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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION
 
This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). These forward-looking statements are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors
which may cause actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-
looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as "will," "should," "intend," "expect," "plan," "anticipate," "believe,"
"estimate," "predict," "potential," or "continue," or the negative of such terms or other comparable terminology. This report includes, among others, statements regarding our risks
associated with:
 
 · a decline in general economic conditions;
 · decreased market demand for our products and services;
 · customer revenue concentration;
 · risks associated with customer collections;
 · seasonality impacts on financial results and cash availability;
 · dependence on advertising suppliers;
 · the ability to acquire traffic in a profitable manner;
 · the ability to attract and retain talented employees;
 · failure to keep pace with technological changes;
 · interruptions within our information technology infrastructure;
 · dependence on key personnel;
 · regulatory and legal uncertainties;
 · failure to comply with privacy and data security laws and regulations;
 · third party infringement claims;
 · publishers fabricating fraudulent clicks;
 · the ability to continue to meet the NYSE American listing standards;
 · the impact of quarterly results on our common stock price;
 · dilution to our stockholders upon the exercise of outstanding restricted stock unit grants and warrants; and
 · our ability to identify, finance, complete and successfully integrate future acquisitions.
 
These forward-looking statements were based on various factors and were derived utilizing numerous assumptions and other factors that could cause our actual results to differ
materially from those in the forward-looking statements. Most of these factors are difficult to predict accurately and are generally beyond our control. You should consider the
areas of risk described in connection with any forward-looking statements that may be made herein. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking
statements and readers should carefully review this report in its entirety, including the risks described in Part II, Item 1A. Risk Factors appearing in this report, together with those
appearing in Item 1A. Risk Factors, in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") on
February 29, 2024 and our subsequent filings with the SEC.
 
Except for our ongoing obligations to disclose material information under the Federal securities laws, we undertake no obligation to release publicly any revisions to any forward-
looking statements, to report events or to report the occurrence of unanticipated events. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this report, and you should
not rely on these statements without also considering the risks and uncertainties associated with these statements and our business.
 

OTHER PERTINENT INFORMATION
 
Unless specifically set forth to the contrary, when used in this report the terms "Inuvo,” the "Company,” "we,” "us,” "our” and similar terms refer to Inuvo, Inc., a Nevada
corporation, and its subsidiaries. When used in this report, "first quarter 2024” means for the three months ended March 31, 2024, "first quarter 2023” means for the three months
ended March 31, 2023,  "2023” means the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 and "2024” means the fiscal year ending December 31, 2024. The information which appears on our
corporate web site at www.inuvo.com and our various social media platforms are not part of this report.
 
 

3



Table of Contents
 
PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

INUVO, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

March 31, 2024 (Unaudited) and December 31, 2023
 

  March 31, 2024   December 31,
2023  

Assets       
Current assets       

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 2,431,957  $ 4,440,454 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for credit losses of $487,158 and $1,645,045, respectively.   8,710,358   9,226,956 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   1,018,876   1,076,121 

Total current assets   12,161,191   14,743,531 
         
Property and equipment, net   1,725,938   1,680,788 
Other assets         

Goodwill   9,853,342   9,853,342 
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization   4,418,666   4,664,791 
Referral and support services agreement advance   425,000   500,000 
Right of use assets - operating lease   1,084,113   805,786 
Right of use assets - finance lease   53,911   72,560 
Other assets   53,346   53,346 

Total other assets   15,888,378   15,949,825 
         
Total assets  $ 29,775,507  $ 32,374,144 
         

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity         
Current liabilities         

Accounts payable  $ 5,330,807  $ 6,432,120 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   8,030,395   7,926,479 
Lease liability - operating lease   233,919   123,074 
Lease liability - finance lease   38,186   50,801 

Total current liabilities   13,633,307   14,532,474 
         
Long-term liabilities         

Deferred tax liability   89,238   89,238 
Lease liability - operating lease   935,977   751,821 
Lease liability - finance lease   12,118   18,209 
Other long-term liabilities   —   216 

Total long-term liabilities   1,037,333   859,484 
         
Stockholders’ equity         

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value:         
Authorized shares 500,000, none issued and outstanding   —   — 

Common stock, $0.001 par value:         
Authorized shares 200,000,000; issued and outstanding shares 139,428,784 and 137,983,918, respectively.   139,428   137,983 

Additional paid-in capital   184,524,308   184,291,414 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   —   — 
Accumulated deficit   (169,558,869)   (167,447,211)

Total stockholders' equity   15,104,867   16,982,186 
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity  $ 29,775,507  $ 32,374,144 

                                          
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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INUVO, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(Unaudited)
 

  For the Three Months Ended March
31,  

  2024   2023  
Net revenue  $ 17,023,777  $ 11,847,440 
Cost of revenue   2,099,042   3,190,563 
Gross profit   14,924,735   8,656,877 
Operating expenses         

Marketing costs   13,102,644   7,087,550 
Compensation   3,224,859   3,422,841 
General and administrative   688,510   1,581,889 

Total operating expenses   17,016,013   12,092,280 
Operating loss   (2,091,278)   (3,435,403)
Financing expense, net   (20,380)   (19,120)
Other income, net   —   14,418 
Net loss   (2,111,658)   (3,440,105)
Other comprehensive income         

Unrealized gain on marketable securities   —   84,868 
Comprehensive loss  $ (2,111,658)  $ (3,355,237)
         
Per common share data         

Basic and diluted:         
Net loss  $ (0.02)  $ (0.03)

         
Weighted average shares         

Basic   138,789,669   120,970,597 
Diluted   138,789,669   120,970,597 

 
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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INUVO, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)
 

  For the Three Months Ended March
31,  

  2024   2023  
Operating activities:       

Net loss  $ (2,111,658)  $ (3,440,105)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:         

Depreciation and amortization   673,203   639,026 
Depreciation-Right of Use Assets - Financing   18,649   30,642 
Stock based compensation   396,312   432,084 
Grant expense   (5,000)   5,000 
Amortization of financing fees   833   2,083 
Adjustment to expected losses on accounts receivable   (1,100,000)   (38,875)
Gain on marketable securities   —   (14,418)
Stock warrant expense   —   (9,874)
Change in operating assets and liabilities:         

Accounts receivable   1,616,597   2,037,941 
Referral and support services agreement advance   75,000   75,000 
Prepaid expenses, unbilled revenue and other current assets   57,245   (171,434)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities   124,540   (240,104)
Accounts payable   (1,101,313)   (2,537,965)

Net cash used in operating activities   (1,355,592)   (3,230,999)
Investing activities:         

Purchases of equipment and capitalized development costs   (472,228)   (411,238)
Proceeds from the sale of marketable securities       2,288,876 

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities   (472,228)   1,877,638 
Financing activities:         

Net proceeds from line of credit   —   592,868 
Payments on finance lease obligations   (18,705)   (34,467)
Net taxes paid on restricted stock unit grants exercised   (161,972)   (166,872)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities   (180,677)   391,529 
Net change – cash   (2,008,497)   (961,832)
Cash and cash equivalent, beginning of year   4,440,454   2,931,415 
Cash and cash equivalent, end of period  $ 2,431,957  $ 1,969,583 
Supplemental information:         

Interest paid  $ 36,914  $ 29,953 
Acquisition of right of use asset for operating lease liability  $ 335,286  $ — 

 
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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INUVO, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

(unaudited)
For the Three Months Ended March 31,

 
2024

  

Common Stock
   Additional

Paid in

  

Accumulated

  

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income

   

  Shares   Stock   Capital   Deficit   (Loss)   Total  
Balance as of December 31, 2023   137,983,918  $ 137,983  $ 184,291,414  $ (167,447,211)  $ —  $ 16,982,186 
Net loss               (2,111,658)       (2,111,658)
Stock-based compensation           396,312           396,312 
Stock issued for vested restricted stock awards   1,444,866   1,445   (1,445)           — 
Shares withheld for taxes on vested restricted stock           (161,973)           (161,973)
Balance as of March 31, 2024   139,428,784  $ 139,428  $ 184,524,308  $ (169,558,869)  $ —  $ 15,104,867 

 
2023

  

Common Stock
   Additional

Paid in

  

Accumulated

  

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income

   

  Shares   Stock   Capital   Deficit   (Loss)   Total  
Balance as of December 31, 2022   120,137,124  $ 120,138  $ 178,771,604  $ (157,057,558)  $ (84,868)  $ 21,749,316 
Net loss               (3,440,105)       (3,440,105)
Unrealized loss on debt securities                   84,868   84,868 
Stock-based compensation           432,084           432,084 
Stock issued for vested restricted stock awards   1,503,238   1,503   (1,503)           — 
Shares withheld for taxes on vested restricted stock           (166,872)           (166,872)
Reversal of expense related to a change in warrant vesting           (9,874)           (9,874)
Balance as of March 31, 2023   121,640,362  $ 121,641  $ 179,025,439  $ (160,497,663)  $ —  $ 18,649,417 
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Inuvo, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)
 
Note 1 – Organization and Business  
 
Company Overview
 
Inuvo is an advertising technology and services business selling information technology solutions to brands, agencies and large consolidators of advertising demand
("Platforms”). Inuvo’s revenue is derived from the placement of digital advertising throughout devices, websites, applications and browsers across social, search and
programmatic advertising channels. Inuvo facilitates, and gets paid, to deliver millions of advertising messages monthly and counts among its client's numerous world renowned
companies across industries.
 
Inuvo’s primary mission is to disrupt the advertising industry with its proprietary and patented generative large language artificial intelligence (AI), a technology capable of
identifying and targeting audiences without using a consumer’s identity or data. The AI was designed to replace the consumer data, analytics, segmentation and lookalike
modeling technologies that have traditionally served the advertising industry as it transitions to a new paradigm where a consumer’s identity and data are no longer available for
advertising decisions due to legislative and technological changes. Rather than targeting people, the AI targets the reasons behind why people are interested in products, services
and brands.
 
Inuvo’s AI technology solves this challenge and can be consumed by clients both as a managed service and software-as-a-service. For certain clients, Inuvo has also developed
various proprietary technology and assets that include digital content, websites, automated campaigns, ad fraud detection, performance reporting and predictive media mix
modeling.
 
The Inuvo products and services use analytics, data and artificial intelligence in a manner that optimizes the purchase and placement of advertising in real time. These capabilities
are typically sold with services both individually and in combination with each other based on client needs. These products and services include:
 

 · IntentKey: An artificial intelligence-based consumer intent recognition system designed to reach highly targeted mobile and desktop In-Market audiences with
precision; and

   

 · Bonfire: A marketing and advertising solution where a collection of data, analytics, software and publishing is used to align advertising messages with consumers
across websites online.

 
There are many barriers to entry associated with the Inuvo business model, including a proficiency in large language model based artificial intelligence, large scale information
processing, software development, consumer data products, analytics, IOT (internet of things) integration and the relationships required to execute within the IOT. Inuvo’s
intellectual property is protected by 19 issued and eight pending patents.
 
Liquidity
 
Our principal sources of liquidity are the sale of our common stock and our credit facility discussed in Note 5 - Bank Debt.
 
On May 28, 2021, we entered into a Sales Agreement (the "Sales Agreement”) with A.G.P./Alliance Global Partners, as sales agent (the "Sales Agent”), pursuant to which we may
offer and sell through or to the Sales Agent shares of our common stock (the "ATM Program”) up to an aggregate amount of gross proceeds of $35,000,000. During the year ended
December 31, 2023, we sold 173,558 shares of common stock for gross proceeds totaling $63,136 under the ATM Program and paid the Sales Agent a commission of $1,902, all of
which occurred during the second quarter of 2023. For the three-month period ended March 31, 2024, we did not issue any shares of common stock or receive any aggregate
proceeds under the ATM Program, and we did not pay any commissions to the Sales Agent. Any shares of common stock offered and sold in the ATM Program were issued
pursuant to our universal shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (the "Shelf Registration Statement”). The ATM Program terminated on March 15, 2024, the third (3rd)
anniversary of the initial effective date of the Shelf Registration Statement. Under the terms of the Sales Agreement, the Sales Agent was entitled to a commission at a fixed rate of
3.0% of the gross proceeds from each sale of shares under the Sales Agreement.
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On May 30, 2023, we raised $4.0 million in gross proceeds in a registered direct offering, before expenses, through the sale of an aggregate of 16,000,000 shares of our common
stock. The shares were offered pursuant to the Shelf Registration Statement and a prospectus supplement relating to the offering was filed with the SEC on May 26, 2023.
 
We have focused our resources behind a plan to market our collective multi-channel advertising capabilities differentiated by our AI technology, the IntentKey, where we have a
technological advantage and higher margins. If we are successful in implementing our plan, we expect to return to positive cash flows from operations. However, there is no
assurance that we will be able to achieve this objective.
 
As of March 31, 2024, we have over $2 million in cash and cash equivalents. Our net working capital deficit was approximately $1.5 million. We have encountered recurring losses
and cash outflows from operations, which historically we have funded through equity offerings and debt facilities.  In addition, our investment in internally developed software
consists primarily of labor costs which are of a fixed nature. Through March 31, 2024, our accumulated deficit was $169.6 million.
 
Management plans to support the Company’s future operations and capital expenditures primarily through cash raised through the sale of stock in May 2023, cash generated from
future operations and borrowings from the credit facility until reaching profitability. The credit facility is due upon demand and therefore there can be no assurances that sufficient
borrowings will be available to support future operations until profitability is reached. Our collection period is less than 30 days and can also be used to meet accrued obligations.
We believe our current cash position and credit facility will be sufficient to sustain operations for at least the next twelve months from the date of this filing. If our plan to grow the
IntentKey product is unsuccessful, we may need to fund operations through private or public sales of securities, debt financings or partnering/licensing transactions over the long
term.
 
Customer concentration
 
For the three-month period ended March 31, 2024, one platform customer accounted for 75.9% of our overall revenue. That same customer accounted for 53.8% of our gross
accounts receivable balance as of March 31, 2024. For the three-month period ended March 31, 2023, three customers accounted for 66.3% of our overall revenue at 26.4%, 25.3%
and 14.6%, respectively.  As of March 31, 2023, the same customers accounted for 24.0% of our gross accounts receivable balance.
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Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 
Basis of presentation
 
The consolidated financial statements presented are for Inuvo and its subsidiaries. The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared based
upon SEC rules that permit reduced disclosure for interim periods. Certain information and footnote disclosures have been condensed or omitted in accordance with those rules
and regulations. The accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2023, was derived from audited financial statements, but does not include all disclosures
required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ("GAAP"). In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments that are
necessary for a fair presentation of results of operations and financial condition for the interim periods shown including normal recurring accruals and other items. The results for
the interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results for the full year. For a more complete discussion of significant accounting policies and certain other information, this
report should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2023, which was filed with the SEC on February 29, 2024.
 
Use of estimates
 
The preparation of financial statements, in accordance with GAAP, requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
net revenues and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. The estimates and assumptions used in the accompanying consolidated financial statements are
based upon management’s regular evaluation of the relevant facts and circumstances as of the date of the consolidated financial statements. We regularly evaluate estimates and
assumptions related to capitalized labor, goodwill and purchased intangible asset valuations and income tax valuation allowance. Actual results may differ from the estimates and
assumptions used in preparing the accompanying consolidated financial statements, and such differences could be material.
 
Revenue Recognition
 
We generate revenue by identifying audiences and presenting advertisements on behalf of our customers. We provide our products, technologies and services to Agencies &
Brands and Platforms (large consolidators of advertising demand). Currently, revenue from our IntentKey products and services are primarily from Agencies & Brands, and
revenue from our Bonfire products and services are primarily from Platforms. Our revenue is derived from the placements of advertisements across advertising channels, browsers,
applications and devices. Pricing for those advertisement placements is typically either on a cost-per-click or cost per thousand impressions basis.
 
Our revenue is a function of the number of advertisements placed combined with the price we obtain (using our technologies) for the placements made on behalf of our clients. We
assume the risk associated of finding placements at a cost below that for which it had been sold.
 
We recognize revenue when control of the contracted services or product is transferred to our customer, in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to be entitled to in
exchange for those services or products. We determine revenue recognition through (i) identification of a contract with a customer, (ii) identification of the performance obligations
in the contract, (iii) determination of the transaction price, (iv) allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract, and (v) recognition of revenue when
or as the performance obligations are satisfied.
 
For Agencies and Brands, the terms of an agreement are captured in an Insertion Order ("IO") where revenue is recognized upon delivery of services during the period covered by
the IO. For Platforms, terms are generally captured in multi-year master service agreements and revenue is recognized based on the number of advertisements placed or clicked on
in the period they occur. We settle advertisement placement prices with our customers net of any adjustments for quality.
 
For the three-month period ended March 31, 2024, we generated $17,023,777 in revenue of which 84.1% was from Platforms and 15.9% from Agencies and Brands. For the three-
month period ended March 31, 2023, we generated $11,847,440 in revenue of which 66.3% was from Platforms and 33.7% from Agencies and Brands.
 
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
 
There are no new recently adopted accounting pronouncements for the three-month period ended March 31, 2024.
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Note 3 – Property and Equipment
 
The net carrying value of property and equipment was as follows as of:

  March 31, 2024   December 31,
2023  

Furniture and fixtures  $ 293,152  $ 293,152 
Equipment   1,317,377   1,292,528 
Capitalized software development costs   16,606,896   16,159,517 
Leasehold improvements   458,885   458,885 

Subtotal   18,676,310   18,204,082 
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization   (16,950,372)   (16,523,294)

Total  $ 1,725,938  $ 1,680,788 
 
During the three months ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, depreciation expense was $427,078 and $392,901, respectively.
 
 Note 4 – Other Intangible Assets and Goodwill
 
The following is a schedule of intangible assets and goodwill as of March 31, 2024:

  
Term

  Carrying
Value

  
Accumulated

Amortization and
Impairment

  Net Carrying
Value

  Year-to-date
Amortization

 

                
Customer list, Google  20 years   $ 8,820,000  $ (5,328,750)  $ 3,491,250  $ 110,250 
Customer list, ReTargeter  5 years    1,931,250   (1,802,500)   128,750   96,562 
Brand name, ReTargeter  5 years    643,750   (600,834)   42,916   32,188 
Customer relationships  20 years    570,000   (204,250)   365,750   7,125 
Trade names, web properties (1)   -    390,000   —   390,000   — 

Intangible assets classified as long-term      $ 17,565,000  $ (13,146,334)  $ 4,418,666  $ 246,125 
                     
Goodwill, total   -   $ 9,853,342  $ —  $ 9,853,342  $ — 
 
 (1) The trade names related to our web properties have an indefinite life, and as such are not amortized.
 

Amortization expense over the next five years and thereafter is as follows:
 
2024 (remainder of year)  $ 523,792 
2025   469,500 
2026   469,500 
2027   469,500 
2028   469,500 
Thereafter   1,626,875 
Total  $ 4,028,667 
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The following is a schedule of intangible assets and goodwill as of December 31, 2023:

  
Term

  Carrying
Value

  
Accumulated

Amortization and
Impairment

  Net Carrying
Value

  2023
Amortization

 

                
Customer list, Google  20 years   $ 8,820,000  $ (5,218,500)  $ 3,601,500  $ 441,000 
Customer list, ReTargeter  5 years    1,931,250   (1,705,938)   225,312   386,250 
Brand name, ReTargeter  5 years    643,750   (568,646)   75,104   128,750 
Customer relationships  20 years    570,000   (197,125)   372,875   28,500 
Trade names, web properties   -    390,000   —   390,000   — 

Intangible assets classified as long-term      $ 17,565,000  $ (12,900,209)  $ 4,664,791  $ 984,500 
                     

Goodwill, total      $ 9,853,342  $ —  $ 9,853,342  $ — 
 
Note 5 – Bank Debt
 
On March 1, 2023, we entered into Amendment No. 1 to Loan and Security Agreement and Collateral Documents ("Agreement”) with Mitsubishi HC Capital America, Inc., f/k/a/
Hitachi Capital America Corp. ("MHCA”). Under the terms of the Agreement, MHCA has provided us with a $5,000,000 line of credit commitment. We are permitted to borrow up to
85% of the aggregate Eligible Accounts Receivable, up to the maximum credit commitment of $5,000,000. We will pay MHCA monthly interest at the rate of 1.75% in excess of the
Wall Street Journal Prime Rate. The principal and all accrued but unpaid interest are due on demand. In the event of a default under the terms of the Loan and Security Agreement,
the interest rate increases to 6% greater than the interest rate in effect from time to time prior to a default. The Agreement contains certain affirmative and negative covenants to
which we are also subject. We agreed to pay MHCA an amendment fee of $10,000 on issuance of the Agreement, and thereafter an annual commitment fee of $10,000. We are also
obligated to pay MHCA a quarterly service fee of 0.20% on the monthly unused amount of the maximum credit line. If we terminate the Agreement before February 28, 2025, we are
obligated to pay MHCA an exit fee of $25,000. The Loan and Security Agreement continues for an indefinite term. At March 31, 2024, the outstanding balances due under the Loan
and Security Agreement was $0. Our borrowing capacity at March 31, 2024 was $5,000,000.
 
Note 6 – Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities
 
The accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following as of:

  March 31, 2024   December 31,
2023  

Accrued marketing costs  $ 5,695,372  $ 5,717,983 
Accrued commissions and payroll   1,364,098   1,544,460 
Accrued expenses and other   938,026   622,960 
Arkansas grant contingency   30,000   35,000 
Accrued taxes, current portion   2,899   6,076 
         
Total  $ 8,030,395  $ 7,926,479 
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Note 7 – Commitments    
 
On September 17, 2021, we signed a multi-year agreement with a business development partner to provide referral and support services to us. The agreement required an advance
fee of $1.5 million with $300,000 recorded in other current assets. The advance is being amortized as marketing expenses over five years. As of March 31, 2024, $775,000 has been
amortized and the total current and non-current balance is $725,000.  As part of the agreement, we granted a warrant exercisable into 300,000 shares of our common stock, which
vested over two years upon achieving certain performance metrics (see Note 10 - Stockholders' Equity).  Additionally, we agreed to pay quarterly support fees upon reaching
certain levels of operational activity. In April 2022, we agreed to Amendment No. 2 ("amendment") to the agreement. The amendment replaced the quarterly support fees with a
commission on quarterly cumulative programmatic revenue.
 
The amendment also revised the cumulative target media spend and the associated commission.
 
In addition, effective September 26, 2023, Inuvo and the business development partner entered into an Offset Agreement whereby the parties agreed that the commission due to
the partner be offset against the outstanding receivable balances due to Inuvo. We offset approximately $960,852 in commissions due to the partner against the outstanding
receivable of $642,202. The total amount of commission recognized, net of the $67K commission adjustment per our offset agreement, for the year ended December 31, 2023 was
approximately $52K. Commission expense of approximately $17K was recognized for the three months ended March 31, 2024.
 
Note 8 – Income Taxes
 
We have no current income tax expense and incur only the minimum state taxes which are included in operating expenses. We have deferred tax assets of $42,167,778. We believe it
is more likely than not that essentially none of our deferred tax assets will be realized, and we have recorded a valuation allowance of $41,000,516 for the deferred tax assets that
may not be realized as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023. We also have deferred tax liabilities totaling $1,256,500 as of March 31, 2024, related to intangible assets acquired
in March 2012 and February 2017. These balances are presented as a net deferred tax liability of $89,238 composed of indefinite lived intangible assets.
 
Note 9 – Stock-Based Compensation
 
We maintain a stock-based compensation program intended to attract, retain and provide incentives for talented employees and directors and align stockholder and employee
interests. During the 2024 and 2023 periods, we granted restricted stock units ("RSUs") from the 2017 Equity Compensation Plan, as amended ("2017 ECP”). RSU vesting periods
are generally up to three years and/or based upon achieving certain financial targets.
 
As of March 31, 2024, the total number of authorized shares of our common stock under the 2017 ECP was 24,550,000.
 
Compensation Expense
 
For the three months ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, we recorded stock-based compensation expense for all equity incentive plans of $396,312 and $432,084,
respectively. Total compensation cost not yet recognized at March 31, 2024 was $2,517,485, which will be recognized over the next three years.
 
The following table summarizes the stock grants outstanding under 2017 ECP for the three months ended March 31, 2024:
 

  Options
Outstanding   RSUs

Outstanding   Options and
RSUs Exercised   Available Shares   Total Awards

Authorized  

Total   —   8,413,345   8,485,792   7,650,863   24,550,000 
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The fair value of RSUs is determined using market value of the common stock on the date of the grant. The fair value of stock options is determined using the Black-Scholes-
Merton valuation model. The use of this valuation model involves assumptions that are judgmental and highly sensitive in the determination of compensation expense and include
the expected life of the option, stock price volatility, risk-free interest rate, dividend yield, exercise price, and forfeiture rate. Forfeitures are estimated at the time of valuation and
reduce expense ratably over the vesting period. The forfeiture rate, which is estimated at a weighted average of 0% of unvested options outstanding, is adjusted periodically based
on the extent to which actual forfeitures differ, or are expected to differ, from the previous estimate.
 
There were no stock option awards outstanding as of the three months ended March 31, 2024.
 
The following table summarizes the activities for our RSUs for the three months ended March 31, 2024:
  RSUs  

  Number of
Shares

  
Weighted

Average Grant
Date Fair Value

 

Outstanding, beginning of period   7,010,016  $ 0.48 
Granted   3,255,000  $ 0.41 
Vested   (1,851,671)  $ 0.87 
Outstanding, end of period   8,413,345  $ 0.37 
 
Note 10 – Stockholders' Equity
 
Warrants
 
On September 17, 2021, we signed an agreement with a marketing platform and consulting company to provide referral and support services to us for a period of five years (see
Note 7 - Commitments). As part of that agreement, we granted a warrant
exercisable into 300,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $0.72 per share and vests in two tranches when certain performance metrics are achieved. The warrant
was valued using the Black Scholes option pricing model at a total of $149,551 based on a seven-year term, an implied volatility of 100%, a risk-free equivalent yield of 1.17%, and a
stock price of $0.71. The warrant is classified as equity and will be expensed on a ratable basis over the vesting period of each tranche. On August 31, 2022, 85,862 shares vested in
accordance with the contracted performance criteria. On August 31, 2023, an additional 21,136 shares vested. For the second tranche, we reversed approximately $7.9 thousand for
the year ended December 31, 2023 due to a change in the probability of performance criteria being achieved. In accordance with our agreement, after the second anniversary of the
Original Issue Date, any interests in Warrant shares that have not vested pursuant to the terms and conditions of the agreement shall be deemed forfeited and shall never become
exercisable. At the period ended December 31, 2023, approximately 193 thousand shares have been forfeited.
 
Earnings per Share
 
For the three-month period ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, we generated a net loss from continuing operations and as a result, any potential common shares are anti-dilutive.
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Note 11 – Leases
 
We have entered into operating and finance leases primarily for real estate and equipment rental. These leases have terms which range from three years to five years, and often
include one or more options to renew or in the case of equipment rental, to purchase the equipment. These operating and finance leases are listed as separate line items on our
consolidated balance sheets and represent our right to use the underlying asset for the lease term. Our obligation to make lease payments is also listed as separate line items on our
consolidated balance sheets.  As of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, total operating and financed right-of-use assets were $1,084,113 and $53,911, and $805,786 and $72,560
respectively.
 
As of March 31, 2024 and 2023, we recorded $18,649 and $30,642, respectively, in amortization expense related to finance leases. 
 
In May 2023, we entered into an agreement to lease 4,128 square feet of office space in San Jose, CA commencing on September 1, 2023. The lease has a term of sixty-five months
with an abatement period of five months and will cost approximately $208,000 during its first year. Thereafter, the lease payments increase by 3% annually.
 
In January 2024, we amended and renewed our lease at our corporate headquarters in Little Rock, Arkansas. The lease was extended for thirty-six months commencing on February
1, 2024 and expiring on January 31, 2027 and will cost approximately $127,000 during its first year. Thereafter, the lease payments increase by 2% annually.
 
Because the rate implicit in each lease is not readily determinable, we use our incremental borrowing rate to determine the present value of the lease payments.
 
Information related to our operating lease liabilities are as follows:

  
For the Three
Months Ended

March 31, 2024
 

Cash paid for operating lease liabilities  $ 56,364 
Weighted-average remaining lease term  3.4 years 
Weighted-average discount rate   10.5%

 
Minimum future lease payments ended March 31, 2024    
2024 (remainder of year)   255,719 
2025   349,194 
2026   354,565 
2027   237,867 
2028   233,727 
Thereafter   19,525 
   1,450,597 
Less imputed interest   (280,701)
Total lease liabilities  $ 1,169,896 
 
Information related to our financed lease liabilities are as follows:

  
For the Three
Months Ended

March 31, 2024
 

Cash paid for finance lease liabilities  $ 17,350 
Weighted-average remaining lease term  1.2 years 
Weighted-average discount rate   6.25%
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Minimum future lease payments ended March 31, 2024    
2024 (remainder of year)   33,057 
2025   18,491 
   51,548 
Less imputed interest   (1,244)
Total lease liabilities  $ 50,304 
 
Note 12 – Allowance for Credit Losses
 
The activity in the allowance for doubtful accounts was as follows during the three-month period ended 2024 and years ended December 31, 2023:
 
  2024   2023  
Balance at the beginning of the year  $ 1,645,045  $ 1,440,678 
Adjustment to expected losses on accounts receivable   (1,100,000)   786,549 
Charge-offs   (62,587)   (582,189)
Recoveries   4,700   7 
Balance at the end of the year  $ 487,158  $ 1,645,045 
 
The allowance for doubtful accounts at March 31, 2024 was $487,158, a decrease of $1,157,887 from December 31, 2023. During 2024, we made an adjustment to the expected losses
for accounts receivable for a balance due from a former client in 2022 that now pays consistently, has significantly reduced its outstanding amount owed and is expected to pay the
remaining amount due.
 
 
Note 13 – Subsequent Events
 
On May 7, 2024, we entered into an At The Market Offering Agreement (the "ATM Agreement”) with H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC ("Wainwright”), to sell shares of our common
stock, par value $0.001 per share, (the "Shares”) having an aggregate sales price of up to $15,000,000, from time to time, through an "at the market offering” program under which
Wainwright will act as sales agent. The sales, if any, of the Shares made under the ATM Agreement will be made by any method permitted by law deemed to be an "at the market
offering” as defined in Rule 415 promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The Company will pay Wainwright a commission rate of up to 3.0% of the aggregate
gross proceeds from each sale of Shares. As of the date of this filing, the Company has not sold any shares of common stock under the ATM Agreement.
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ITEM 2.  MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 
Company Overview
 
Inuvo is an advertising technology and services business selling information technology solutions to brands, agencies and large consolidators of advertising demand
("Platforms”). Inuvo’s revenue is derived from the placement of digital advertising throughout devices, websites, applications and browsers across social, search and
programmatic advertising channels. Inuvo facilitates, and gets paid, to deliver millions of advertising messages monthly and counts among its client's numerous world-renowned
companies across industries.
 
Inuvo’s primary mission is to disrupt the advertising industry with its proprietary and patented generative large language artificial intelligence (AI), a technology capable of
identifying and targeting audiences without using a consumer’s identity or data. The AI was designed to replace the consumer data, analytics, segmentation and lookalike
modeling technologies that have traditionally served the advertising industry as it transitions to a new paradigm where a consumer’s identity and data are no longer available for
advertising decisions due to legislative and technological changes.
 
The advertising industry Inuvo serves is going through an unprecedented change the likes of which has never occurred with the potential to disrupt the over $600 billion dollars in
annual worldwide digital media spend that supports the internet. The cornerstone of the change revolves around the use of a consumer’s identity and data for ad-targeting. While
there are many ways to identify consumers, the principal method that has evolved within the browsers has been the cookie, which is the location within the browser where a
consumer's identity gets stored. When the cookie is no longer available, the means to lookup a consumer’s personal information in a database is no longer possible. No Cookie. No
Data. No Targeting. Thirteen states have now signed consumer privacy legislation and another 17 have privacy bills in process. Apple has already eliminated the use of cookies
within its browser and Google began phasing them out in January of 2024.
 
Inuvo’s AI technology solves this challenge and can be consumed by clients both as a managed service and software-as-a-service. For certain clients, Inuvo has also developed
various proprietary technology and assets that include digital content, websites, automated campaigns, ad fraud detection, performance reporting and predictive media mix
modeling.
 
There are many barriers to entry associated with the Inuvo business model, including a proficiency in large language model based artificial intelligence, large scale information
processing, software development, consumer data products, analytics, IOT (internet of things) integration and the relationships required to execute within the IOT. In 2023, Inuvo
delivered roughly 11.27 billion ads. Inuvo’s intellectual property is protected by 19 issued and eight pending patents.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reported periods. The estimates and assumptions that
management makes affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, net revenues and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. The estimates and assumptions
used are based upon management’s regular evaluation of the relevant facts and circumstances as of the date of the consolidated financial statements. Actual results may differ
from the estimates and assumptions used in preparing the accompanying consolidated financial statements, and such differences could be material. Our significant accounting
policies related to Revenue Recognition, Equity-Based Compensation, Capitalized Software Costs, Goodwill, Long-lived Assets and others are described in Note 2 — Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies, of the Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Report.
 
Results of Operations
  For the Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2024   2023   Change   % Change  
Net Revenue  $ 17,023,777  $ 11,847,440  $ 5,176,337   43.7%
Cost of Revenue   2,099,042   3,190,563   (1,091,521)   (34.2)%

Gross Profit  $ 14,924,735  $ 8,656,877  $ 6,267,858   72.4%
 
Net Revenue
 
Revenue for the three-month period ended March 31, 2024, increased 43.7% as compared to the same time period in 2023.  The higher revenue this quarter compared to the prior
year period was attributable to accelerating demand within Platforms since the third quarter of last year.
 
Cost of Revenue
 
Cost of revenue is primarily composed of payments to advertising exchanges that provide access to digital inventory where we serve advertisements. To a lesser extent, cost of
revenue includes payments to website publishers and app developers that host advertisements. The decline in cost of revenue for the period ended March 31, 2024, compared to
the same time period in 2023 was related to the change in revenue mix due to increasing demand and consequently revenue from Platform clients.  The higher gross margin in the
current year quarter, 87.7% compared to 73.1% in the same quarter last year was primarily due to a change in the revenue mix, where Platform clients typically have higher gross
margins.
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Operating Expenses  
  For the Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2024   2023   Change   % Change  
Marketing costs  $ 13,102,644  $ 7,087,550  $ 6,015,094   84.9%
Compensation   3,224,859   3,422,841   (197,982)                  (5.8%) 
General and administrative   688,510   1,581,889   (893,379)                  (56.5%) 

Operating expenses  $ 17,016,013  $ 12,092,280  $ 4,923,733   40.7%
 
Marketing costs consist mostly of traffic acquisition (i.e., media) costs and include those expenses required to attract audiences to various web properties. Marketing costs for the
three-month period ended March 31, 2024 compared to the same period in 2023 increased due to a higher costs associated with higher revenue with Platforms.
 
Compensation expense was lower for the three-month period ended March 31, 2024, compared to the same time period in 2023 due primarily to lower commission expense and a
decrease in our incentive accrual, partially offset by higher payroll expense. Our total employment, both full- and part-time, was 93 at March 31, 2024 compared to 85 at March 31,
2023.
 
General and administrative costs for the three months ended March 31, 2024, decreased 56% compared to the same period in 2023 due primarily to a $1.1 million dollar adjustment to
the expected losses for accounts receivable for a balance due from a former client in 2022 that now pays consistently, has significantly reduced its outstanding amount owed and is
expected to pay the remaining amount due.
 
Financing expense, net
 
Finance expense, net, for the three months ended March 31, 2024, was approximately $20 thousand compared to $19 thousand in the same quarter last year.
 
Other income, net
 
Other income was approximately $0 and $14 thousand for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 
Our principal sources of liquidity are the sale of our common stock and our credit facility discussed in Note 5 - Bank Debt. 
 
On May 28, 2021, we entered into a Sales Agreement (the "Sales Agreement”) with A.G.P./Alliance Global Partners, as sales agent (the "Sales Agent”), pursuant to which we may
offer and sell through or to the Sales Agent shares of our common stock (the "ATM Program”) up to an aggregate amount of gross proceeds of $35,000,000. During the year ended
December 31, 2023, we sold 173,558 shares of common stock for gross proceeds totaling $63,136 under the ATM Program and paid the Sales Agent a commission of $1,902, all of
which occurred during the second quarter of 2023. For the three-month period ended March 31, 2024, we did not issue any shares of common stock or receive any aggregate
proceeds under the ATM Program, and we did not pay any commissions to the Sales Agent. Any shares of common stock offered and sold in the ATM Program were issued
pursuant to our universal shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (the "Shelf Registration Statement”). The ATM Program terminated on March 15, 2024, the third (3rd)
anniversary of the initial effective date of the Shelf Registration Statement. Under the terms of the Sales Agreement, the Sales Agent was entitled to a commission at a fixed rate of
3.0% of the gross proceeds from each sale of shares under the Sales Agreement.
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On May 30, 2023, we raised $4.0 million in gross proceeds in a registered direct offering, before expenses, through the sale of an aggregate of 16,000,000 shares of our common
stock. The shares were offered pursuant to the Shelf Registration Statement and a prospectus supplement relating to the offering was filed with the SEC on May 26, 2023.
 
We have focused our resources behind a plan to market our collective multi-channel advertising capabilities differentiated by our AI technology, the IntentKey, where we have a
technology advantage and higher margins. If we are successful in implementing our plan, we expect to return to positive cash flows from operations. However, there is no
assurance that we will be able to achieve this objective.
 
As of March 31, 2024, we have over $2 million in cash and cash equivalents. Our net working capital deficit was approximately $1.5 million. We have encountered recurring losses
and cash outflows from operations, which historically we have funded through equity offerings and debt facilities.  In addition, our investment in internally developed software
consists primarily of labor costs which are of a fixed nature. Through March 31, 2024, our accumulated deficit was $169.6 million.
 
Management plans to support the Company’s future operations and capital expenditures primarily through cash raised through the sale of stock in May 2023, cash generated from
future operations and borrowings from the credit facility until reaching profitability. The credit facility is due upon demand and therefore there can be no assurances that sufficient
borrowings will be available to support future operations until profitability is reached. Our collection period is less than 30 days and can also be used to meet accrued obligations.
We believe our current cash position and credit facility will be sufficient to sustain operations for at least the next twelve months from the date of this filing. If our plan to grow the
IntentKey product is unsuccessful, we may need to fund operations through private or public sales of securities, debt financings or partnering/licensing transactions over the long
term.
 
Cash Flows
 
The table below sets forth a summary of our cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023:
 

  For the Three Months Ended March
31,  

  2024   2023  
Net cash used in operating activities  $ (1,355,592)  $ (3,230,999)
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities  $ (472,228)  $ 1,877,638 
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities  $ (180,677)  $ 391,529 
 
Cash Flows - Operating
 
Net cash used in operating activities was $1,355,592 during the three months ended March 31, 2024. We reported a net loss of $2,111,658, which included non-cash expenses of
depreciation and amortization expense of $673,203, depreciation of right of use assets of $18,649 and stock-based compensation expense of $396,312. The change in operating
assets and liabilities during the three months ended March 31, 2024 was a net provision of cash of $772,069 primarily due to a decrease in the accounts payable balance of
$1,101,313, partially offset by the decrease in accounts receivable balance of $1,616,597. Our terms are such that we generally collect receivables prior to paying trade payables.
However, our Media sales arrangements typically have slower payment terms than the terms of related payables.
 
During the comparable three-month period in 2023, cash used in operating activities was $3,230,999 from a net loss of $3,440,105 and included several non-cash expenses of
depreciation and amortization expense of $639,026 and stock-based compensation expense of $432,084. The change in operating assets and liabilities during the three months
ended March 31, 2023, was a net use of cash of $836,562.
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Cash Flows - Investing
 
Net cash used by investing activities was $472,228 for the three months ended March 31, 2024, and consisted primarily of capitalized internal development costs.
 
Net cash used in investing activities was $1,877,638 for the three months ended March 31, 2023, and consisted primarily of the purchase of marketable securities and to a lesser
extent, capitalized internal development costs.
 
Cash Flows - Financing
 
Net cash used financing activities was $180,677 and during the three months ended March 31, 2024, and was primarily from net taxes paid on restricted stock unit grants exercised.
 
Net cash used in financing activities was $391,529 during the three months ended March 31, 2023.
 
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
 
As of March 31, 2024, we do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our financial condition, changes in
financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that are material to investors. The term "off-balance sheet
arrangement" generally means any transaction, agreement or other contractual arrangement to which an entity unconsolidated with us is a party, under which we have any
obligation arising under a guarantee contract, derivative instrument or variable interest or a retained or contingent interest in assets transferred to such entity or similar
arrangement that serves as credit, liquidity or market risk support for such assets.
 
ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.
 
Not applicable to a smaller reporting company.
 
ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 
We maintain "disclosure controls and procedures” as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Disclosure controls and procedures are
controls and procedures designed to reasonably assure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, such as this report,
is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods prescribed by SEC rules and regulations, and to reasonably assure that such information is accumulated
and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
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Our management does not expect that our disclosure controls will prevent all errors and fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. In addition, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource
constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide
absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within a company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in
decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some
persons, by collusion of two or more people or by management override of the control. The design of any systems of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about
the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Over time, controls
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of these inherent limitations in a
cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
 
As required by Rule 13a-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as of March 31, 2024, the end of the period covered by this report, our management concluded their
evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures. As of the evaluation date, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer concluded that we maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are effective in providing reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in our reports
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods prescribed by SEC rules and regulations, and that such
information is accumulated and communicated to our management to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended March 31, 2024 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

 
 

22



Table of Contents
  

PART II
 
Item 1 - LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
 
None.
 
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS-UPDATE
 
We desire to take advantage of the "safe harbor” provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Accordingly, we incorporate by reference the risk factors
disclosed in Part I, Item 1A of our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, as filed with the SEC on February 29, 2024 and our subsequent filings with the SEC, subject to
the new or modified risk factors appearing below that should be read in conjunction with the risk factors disclosed in such Form 10-K and our subsequent filings.
 
We rely on one customer for a significant portion of our revenues. We are reliant upon one customer for most of our revenue. During the first quarter of 2024, this customer
accounted for 75.9% of our revenues. During the same period in 2023, we were reliant upon three customers for most of our revenue. They accounted for 26.4%, 25.3% and 14.6%
of our revenues, respectively. The amount of revenue we receive from these customers is dependent on a number of factors outside of our control, this includes the amount they
charge for advertisements, the depth of advertisements available from them, and their ability to display relevant ads in response to end user queries and changes in advertising
budgets resulting from their own business circumstances. We would likely experience a significant decline in revenue and our business operations could be significantly harmed if
these customers do not continue to utilize our services. Additionally, our business operations and financial condition could be significantly harmed if these customers do not pay
for our services on a timely basis. The loss of any of these customers or a material change in the revenue or gross profit they generate or their failure to timely pay us for our
services would have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition in future periods.
 
ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS.
 
None.
 
ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES.
 
None.
 
ITEM 4.  MINE SAFETY AND DISCLOSURES.
 
Not applicable.
 
ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION.
 
Trading Plans
 
During the three months ended March 31, 2024, no director or officer (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) under the Exchange Act) of the Company adopted or terminated a "Rule 10b5-1
trading arrangement” or "non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as each term is defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K.
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Entry Into Material Definitive Agreement
 
On May 7, 2024, Inuvo, Inc. entered into an At The Market Offering Agreement (the "Offering Agreement”) with H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC, as sales agent (the "Agent”),
pursuant to which the Company may offer and sell, from time to time, through or to the Agent, as sales agent and/or principal (the "Offering”) shares of its common stock, $0.001
par value per share (the "Shares”). Any Shares offered and sold in the Offering will be issued pursuant to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-277878)
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC”) on March 13, 2024 and declared effective on May 1, 2024 (the "Form S-3”), the base prospectus included in the
Form S-3 and the prospectus supplement relating to the Offering, dated May 7, 2021, that will be filed with the SEC providing for up to $15,000,000 of sales of Shares. The issuance
and sale, if any, of the Shares held by the Company under the Offering Agreement is subject to the continued effectiveness of the Form S-3.
 
Subject to the terms and conditions of the Offering Agreement, the Agent will use its commercially reasonable efforts to sell the Shares from time to time, based upon the
Company’s instructions. Under the Offering Agreement, the Agent may sell the Shares by any method permitted by law deemed to be an "at the market offering” as defined in Rule
415 promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act”).
 
The Company has no obligation to sell any of the Shares, and may at any time suspend offers under the Offering Agreement. The offering of the Company’s common stock
pursuant to the Offering Agreement will terminate upon the earlier of the sale of all of the shares of the Company’s common stock provided for in this prospectus supplement or
the termination of the Offering Agreement as permitted therein.
 
Under the terms of the Offering Agreement, the Agent will be entitled to a commission at a fixed rate of up to 3.0% of the gross proceeds from each sale of Shares under the
Offering Agreement. The Company will also reimburse the Agent for certain expenses incurred in connection with the Offering Agreement, and agreed to provide indemnification
and contribution to the Agent with respect to certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
 
The Company currently intends to use the net proceeds from the Offering for general corporate purposes, which may include additions to working capital and financing potential
acquisitions.
 
The foregoing description of the Offering Agreement does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Offering Agreement, a copy
of which is filed as Exhibit 1.1 hereto and is incorporated herein by reference.
 
A copy of the opinion of Porter, Wright, Morris & Arthur LLP relating to the validity of the Shares that may be offered and sold under the Registration Statement, is filed with this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as Exhibit 5.1.
 
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q shall not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy the Shares, nor shall there be any offer, solicitation or sale of the Shares
in any state or country in which such offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to registration or qualification under the securities laws of any such state or country.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
 

No.
 

Exhibit Description
 

Form
 

Date Filed
 

Number
 

Filed or
Furnished
Herewith

1.1  At the Market Offering Agreement, dated May 7, 2024 by and between Inuvo, Inc. and H.C. Wainwright & Co.,
LLC.     Filed

3(i).1  Articles of Incorporation, as amended  10-KSB  3/1/04  4   
3(i).2  Amended to Articles of Incorporation filed March 14, 2005  10-KSB  3/31/06  3.2   
3(i).3  Articles of Merger between Inuvo, Inc. and Kowabunga! Inc.  8-K  7/24/09  3.4   
3(i).4  Certificate of Change Filed Pursuant to NRS 78.209  8-K  12/10/10  3(i).4   
3(i).5  Certificate of Merger as filed with the Secretary of State of Nevada on February 29, 2012  10-K  3/29/12  3(i).5   
3(i).6  Articles of Amendment to Amended Articles of Incorporation as filed on February 29, 2012  10-K  3/29/12  3(i).6   
3(i).7  Articles of Amendment to Amended Articles of Incorporation as filed on October 31, 2019  10-Q  5/15/20  3(i).7   
3(i).8  Certificate of Validation of Amendment to Amended Articles of Incorporation as filed October 16, 2020.  10-Q  11/9/20  3(i).8   
3(i).9  Articles of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation as filed January 7, 2021  10-K  2/11/21  3(i).9   
3(i).10  Articles of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation as filed on August 19, 2021  10-Q  11/12/21  3(i).10   
3(ii).1  Amended and Restated By-Laws  10-K  3/31/10  3(ii).4   
3(ii).2  Bylaw amendment adopted February 29, 2012  8-K  3/6/12  3(ii).1   

5.1  Opinion of Porter Wright Morris & Arthur LLP     Filed
10.1  Google Services Agreement effective January 1, 2024 by and between Vertro, Inc. and Google Inc.  8-K  12/21/23  10.1   
23.1  Consent of Porter Wright Morris & Arthur LLP(included in Exhibit 5.1)     Filed
31.1  Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) certification of Chief Executive Officer        Filed
31.2  Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) certification of Chief Financial Officer        Filed
32.1  Section 1350 certification of Chief Executive Officer        Furnished
32.2  Section 1350 certification of Chief Financial Officer        Furnished

101.INS  Inline XBRL Instance Document        Filed
101.SCH  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document        Filed
101.CAL  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document        Filed
101.DEF  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document        Filed
101.LAB  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document        Filed
101.PRE  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document        Filed
101.PRE  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document        Filed

104  The cover page for Inuvo, Inc.’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2024, formatted in
Inline XBRL (included with Exhibit 101 attachments).        Filed
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SIGNATURES
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.
 
 Inuvo, Inc.  
    
May 7, 2024 By: /s/ Richard K. Howe  
  Richard K. Howe,  
  Chief Executive Officer, principal executive officer  
    
May 7, 2024 By: /s/ Wallace D. Ruiz  
  Wallace D. Ruiz,  

  Chief Financial Officer, principal financial and accounting
officer  
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EXHIBIT 1.1
 

AT THE MARKET OFFERING AGREEMENT
 

May 7, 2024
 
H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC
430 Park Avenue
New York, New York 10022
 
Ladies and Gentlemen:
 

Inuvo, Inc., a corporation organized under the laws of Nevada (the "Company”), confirms its agreement (this "Agreement”) with H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC (the
"Manager”) as follows:
 

1. Definitions. The terms that follow, when used in this Agreement and any Terms Agreement, shall have the meanings indicated.
 

"Accountants” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 4(m).
 

"Act” shall mean the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations of the Commission promulgated thereunder.
 

"Action” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(p).
 

"Affiliate” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(o).
 

"Applicable Time” shall mean, with respect to any Shares, the time of sale of such Shares pursuant to this Agreement or any relevant Terms Agreement.
 

"Base Prospectus” shall mean the base prospectus contained in the Registration Statement at the Execution Time.
 

"BHCA” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(pp).
 

"Board” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 2(b)(iii).
 

"Broker Fee” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 2(b)(v).
 

"Business Day” shall mean any day other than Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in The City of New York are authorized or required by
law to remain closed; provided, however, that, for purposes of clarity, commercial banks shall not be deemed to be authorized or required by law to remain closed due to
"stay at home”, "shelter-in-place”, "non-essential employee” or any other similar orders or restrictions or the closure of any physical branch locations at the direction of
any governmental authority so long as the electronic funds transfer systems (including for wire transfers) of commercial banks in The City of New York generally are open
for use by customers on such day.

 
 



 
 

"Commission” shall mean the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.
 

"Common Stock” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 2.
 

"Common Stock Equivalents” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(g).
 

"Company Counsel” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 4(l).
 

"Distribution” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 2(b)(ix).
 

"DTC” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 2(b)(vii).
 

"Effective Date” shall mean each date and time that the Registration Statement and any post-effective amendment or amendments thereto became or becomes
effective.

 
"Environmental Laws” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(s).

 
"Evaluation Date” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(y).

 
"Exchange Act” shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations of the Commission promulgated thereunder.

 
"Execution Time” shall mean the date and time that this Agreement is executed and delivered by the parties hereto.

 
"Federal Reserve” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(pp).

 
"FINRA” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in 3(e).

 
"Free Writing Prospectus” shall mean a free writing prospectus, as defined in Rule 405.
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"GAAP” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(m).
 

"GDPR” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(mm).
 

"Hazardous Materials” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(s).
 

"Incorporated Documents” shall mean the documents or portions thereof filed with the Commission on or prior to the Effective Date that are incorporated by
reference in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus and any documents or portions thereof filed with the Commission after the Effective Date that are deemed to be
incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus.

 
"Intellectual Property Rights” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(v).

 
"Issuer Free Writing Prospectus” shall mean an issuer free writing prospectus, as defined in Rule 433.

 
"Liens” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(a).

 
"Losses” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 7(d).

 
"Material Adverse Effect” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(b).

 
"Material Permits” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(t).

 
"Maximum Amount” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 2.

 
"Money Laundering Laws” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(qq).

 
"Net Proceeds” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 2(b)(v).

 
"Permitted Free Writing Prospectus” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 4(g).

 
"Person” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(e).
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"Personal Data” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(mm).
 

"Placement” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 2(c).
 

"Policies” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(mm).
 

"Privacy Laws” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(mm).
 

"Proceeding” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(b).
 

"Prospectus” shall mean the Base Prospectus, as supplemented by the most recently filed Prospectus Supplement (if any).
 

"Prospectus Supplement” shall mean each prospectus supplement relating to the Shares prepared and filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) from time to time.
 

"Record Date” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 2(b)(ix).
 

"Registration Statement” shall mean the shelf registration statement (File Number 333-277878) on Form S-3, including exhibits and financial statements and any
prospectus supplement relating to the Shares that is filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) and deemed part of such registration statement pursuant to Rule
430B, as amended on each Effective Date and, in the event any post-effective amendment thereto becomes effective, shall also mean such registration statement as so
amended.

 
"Representation Date” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 4(k).

 
"Required Approvals” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(e).

 
"Rule 158”, "Rule 164”, "Rule 172”, "Rule 173”, "Rule 405”, "Rule 415”, "Rule 424”, "Rule 430B” and "Rule 433” refer to such rules under the Act.

 
"Sales Notice” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 2(b)(i).

 
"Sanctions” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(nn).

 
"SEC Reports” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(m).
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"Settlement Date” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 2(b)(vii).
 

"Shares” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 2.
 

"Subsidiary” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(a).
 

"Terms Agreement” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 2(a).
 

"Time of Delivery” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 2(c).
 

"Trading Day” means a day on which the Trading Market is open for trading.
 

"Trading Market” means the NYSE American.
 

2. Sale and Delivery of Shares. The Company proposes to issue and sell through or to the Manager, as sales agent and/or principal, from time to time during the term of
this Agreement and on the terms set forth herein, up to such number of shares (the "Shares”) of the Company’s common stock, $0.001 par value per share ("Common Stock”), that
does not exceed (a) the number or dollar amount of shares of Common Stock registered on the Prospectus Supplement, pursuant to which the offering is being made, (b) the
number of authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock (less the number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise, conversion or exchange of any outstanding
securities of the Company or otherwise reserved from the Company’s authorized capital stock), or (c) the number or dollar amount of shares of Common Stock that would cause the
Company or the offering of the Shares to not satisfy the eligibility and transaction requirements for use of Form S-3, including, if applicable, General Instruction I.B.6 of
Registration Statement on Form S-3 (the lesser of (a), (b) and (c), the "Maximum Amount”). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the parties hereto agree
that compliance with the limitations set forth in this Section 2 on the number and aggregate sales price of Shares issued and sold under this Agreement shall be the sole
responsibility of the Company and that the Manager shall have no obligation in connection with such compliance.
 

(a) Appointment of Manager as Selling Agent; Terms Agreement . For purposes of selling the Shares through the Manager, the Company hereby appoints the
Manager as exclusive agent of the Company for the purpose of selling the Shares of the Company pursuant to this Agreement and the Manager agrees to use its
commercially reasonable efforts to sell the Shares on the terms and subject to the conditions stated herein. The Company agrees that, whenever it determines to sell the
Shares directly to the Manager as principal, it will enter into a separate agreement (each, a "Terms Agreement”) in substantially the form of Annex I hereto, relating to
such sale in accordance with Section 2 of this Agreement.

 
 

5



 
 

(b) Agent Sales. Subject to the terms and conditions and in reliance upon the representations and warranties herein set forth, the Company will issue and agrees
to sell Shares from time to time through the Manager, acting as sales agent, and the Manager agrees to use its commercially reasonable efforts to sell, as sales agent for
the Company, on the following terms:

 
(i) The Shares are to be sold on a daily basis or otherwise as shall be agreed to by the Company and the Manager on any day that (A) is a Trading Day,

(B) the Company has instructed the Manager by telephone (confirmed promptly by electronic mail) to make such sales ("Sales Notice”) and (C) the Company has
satisfied its obligations under Section 6 of this Agreement. The Company will designate the maximum amount of the Shares to be sold by the Manager daily
(subject to the limitations set forth in Section 2(d)) and the minimum price per Share at which such Shares may be sold. Subject to the terms and conditions
hereof, the Manager shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to sell on a particular day all of the Shares designated for the sale by the Company on such day.
The gross sales price of the Shares sold under this Section 2(b) shall be the market price for the shares of Common Stock sold by the Manager under this Section
2(b) on the Trading Market at the time of sale of such Shares.

 
(ii) The Company acknowledges and agrees that (A) there can be no assurance that the Manager will be successful in selling the Shares, (B) the

Manager will incur no liability or obligation to the Company or any other person or entity if it does not sell the Shares for any reason other than a failure by the
Manager to use its commercially reasonable efforts consistent with its normal trading and sales practices and applicable law and regulations to sell such Shares
as required under this Agreement, and (C) the Manager shall be under no obligation to purchase Shares on a principal basis pursuant to this Agreement, except
as otherwise specifically agreed by the Manager and the Company pursuant to a Terms Agreement.

 
(iii) The Company shall not authorize the issuance and sale of, and the Manager shall not be obligated to use its commercially reasonable efforts to sell,

any Share at a price lower than the minimum price therefor designated from time to time by the Company’s Board of Directors (the "Board”), or a duly authorized
committee thereof, or such duly authorized officers of the Company, and notified to the Manager in writing. The Company or the Manager may, upon notice to
the other party hereto by telephone (confirmed promptly by electronic mail), suspend the offering of the Shares for any reason and at any time; provided,
however, that such suspension or termination shall not affect or impair the parties’ respective obligations with respect to the Shares sold hereunder prior to the
giving of such notice.
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(iv) The Manager may sell Shares by any method permitted by law deemed to be an "at the market offering” as defined in Rule 415 under the Act,
including without limitation sales made directly on the Trading Market, on any other existing trading market for the Common Stock or to or through a market
maker. The Manager may also sell Shares in privately negotiated transactions, provided that the Manager receives the Company’s prior written approval for any
sales in privately negotiated transactions and if so provided in the "Plan of Distribution” section of the Prospectus Supplement or a supplement to the
Prospectus Supplement or a new Prospectus Supplement disclosing the terms of such privately negotiated transaction.

 
(v) The compensation to the Manager for sales of the Shares under this Section 2(b) shall be a placement fee of 3.0% of the gross sales price of the

Shares sold pursuant to this Section 2(b) ("Broker Fee”). The foregoing rate of compensation shall not apply when the Manager acts as principal, in which case
the Company may sell Shares to the Manager as principal at a price agreed upon at the relevant Applicable Time pursuant to a Terms Agreement. The remaining
proceeds, after deduction of the Broker Fee and deduction of any transaction fees imposed by any clearing firm, execution broker, or governmental or self-
regulatory organization in respect of such sales, shall constitute the net proceeds to the Company for such Shares (the "Net Proceeds”).

 
(vi) The Manager shall provide written confirmation (which may be by electronic mail) to the Company following the close of trading on the Trading

Market each day in which the Shares are sold under this Section 2(b) setting forth the number of the Shares sold on such day, the aggregate gross sales
proceeds and the Net Proceeds to the Company, and the compensation payable by the Company to the Manager with respect to such sales.
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(vii) Unless otherwise agreed between the Company and the Manager, settlement for sales of the Shares will occur at 10:00 a.m. (New York City time) on
the second (2nd) Trading Day (and on and after May 28, 2024 (or such later date on which the Commission’s final rule with respect to the shortening of the
securities transaction settlement cycle becomes effective), on the first (1st) Trading Day, or any such other settlement cycle as may be in effect pursuant to Rule
15c6-1 under the Exchange Act from time to time) following the date on which such sales are made (each, a " Settlement Date”). On or before the Trading Day
prior to each Settlement Date, the Company will, or will cause its transfer agent to, electronically transfer the Shares being sold by crediting the Manager’s or its
designee’s account (provided that the Manager shall have given the Company written notice of such designee at least one Trading Day prior to the Settlement
Date) at The Depository Trust Company ("DTC”) through its Deposit and Withdrawal at Custodian System or by such other means of delivery as may be
mutually agreed upon by the parties hereto which Shares in all cases shall be freely tradable, transferable, registered shares in good deliverable form. On each
Settlement Date, the Manager will deliver the related Net Proceeds in same day funds to an account designated by the Company. The Company agrees that, if the
Company, or its transfer agent (if applicable), defaults in its obligation to deliver duly authorized Shares on a Settlement Date, in addition to and in no way
limiting the rights and obligations set forth in Section 7 hereto, the Company will (i) hold the Manager harmless against any loss, claim, damage, or reasonable,
documented expense (including reasonable and documented legal fees and expenses), as incurred, arising out of or in connection with such default by the
Company, and (ii) pay to the Manager any commission, discount or other compensation to which the Manager would otherwise have been entitled absent such
default.

 
(viii) At each Applicable Time, Settlement Date and Representation Date, the Company shall be deemed to have affirmed each representation and

warranty contained in this Agreement as if such representation and warranty were made as of such date, modified as necessary to relate to the Registration
Statement and the Prospectus as amended as of such date. Any obligation of the Manager to use its commercially reasonable efforts to sell the Shares on behalf
of the Company shall be subject to the continuing accuracy of the representations and warranties of the Company herein, to the performance by the Company of
its obligations hereunder and to the continuing satisfaction of the additional conditions specified in Section 6 of this Agreement.

 
(ix) If the Company shall declare or make any dividend or other distribution of its assets (or rights to acquire its assets) to holders of shares of Common

Stock, by way of return of capital or otherwise (including, without limitation, any distribution of cash, stock or other securities, property or options by way of a
dividend, spin off, reclassification, corporate rearrangement, scheme of arrangement or other similar transaction) (a "Distribution” and the record date for the
determination of stockholders entitled to receive the Distribution, the "Record Date”), the Company hereby covenants that, in connection with any sales of
Shares pursuant to a Sales Notice on the Record Date, the Company shall issue and deliver such Shares to the Manager on the Record Date and the Record Date
shall be the Settlement Date and the Company shall cover any additional costs of the Manager in connection with the delivery of Shares on the Record Date.
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(c) Term Sales. If the Company wishes to sell the Shares pursuant to this Agreement in a manner other than as set forth in Section 2(b) of this Agreement (each, a
"Placement”), the Company will notify the Manager of the proposed terms of such Placement. If the Manager, acting as principal, wishes to accept such proposed terms
(which it may decline to do for any reason in its sole discretion) or, following discussions with the Company wishes to accept amended terms, the Manager and the
Company will enter into a Terms Agreement setting forth the terms of such Placement. The terms set forth in a Terms Agreement will not be binding on the Company or
the Manager unless and until the Company and the Manager have each executed such Terms Agreement accepting all of the terms of such Terms Agreement. In the event
of a conflict between the terms of this Agreement and the terms of a Terms Agreement, the terms of such Terms Agreement will control. A Terms Agreement may also
specify certain provisions relating to the reoffering of such Shares by the Manager. The commitment of the Manager to purchase the Shares pursuant to any Terms
Agreement shall be deemed to have been made on the basis of the representations and warranties of the Company herein contained and shall be subject to the terms and
conditions herein set forth. Each Terms Agreement shall specify the number of the Shares to be purchased by the Manager pursuant thereto, the price to be paid to the
Company for such Shares, any provisions relating to rights of, and default by, underwriters acting together with the Manager in the reoffering of the Shares, and the time
and date (each such time and date being referred to herein as a "Time of Delivery”) and place of delivery of and payment for such Shares. Such Terms Agreement shall
also specify any requirements for opinions of counsel, accountants’ letters and officers’ certificates pursuant to Section 6 of this Agreement and any other information or
documents required by the Manager.

 
(d) Maximum Number of Shares. Under no circumstances shall the Company cause or request the offer or sale of any Shares if, after giving effect to the sale of

such Shares, the aggregate amount of Shares sold pursuant to this Agreement would exceed the lesser of (A) together with all sales of Shares under this Agreement, the
Maximum Amount, (B) the amount available for offer and sale under the currently effective Registration Statement and (C) the amount authorized from time to time to be
issued and sold under this Agreement by the Board, a duly authorized committee thereof or a duly authorized executive committee, and notified to the Manager in writing.
Under no circumstances shall the Company cause or request the offer or sale of any Shares pursuant to this Agreement at a price lower than the minimum price authorized
from time to time by the Board, a duly authorized committee thereof or a duly authorized executive officer, and notified to the Manager in writing. Further, under no
circumstances shall the Company cause or permit the aggregate offering amount of Shares sold pursuant to this Agreement to exceed the Maximum Amount.

 
(e) Regulation M Notice. Unless the exceptive provisions set forth in Rule 101(c)(1) of Regulation M under the Exchange Act are satisfied with respect to the

Shares, the Company shall give the Manager at least one (1) Business Day’s prior notice of its intent to sell any Shares in order to allow the Manager time to comply with
Regulation M.
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3. Representations and Warranties . The Company represents and warrants to, and agrees with, the Manager at the Execution Time and on each such time that the
following representations and warranties are repeated or deemed to be made pursuant to this Agreement, as set forth below, except as set forth in the Registration Statement, the
Prospectus or the Incorporated Documents.
 

(a) Subsidiaries. All of the direct and indirect material subsidiaries (individually, a " Subsidiary”) of the Company are set forth on Exhibit 21.1 to the Company’s
most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission. The Company owns, directly or indirectly, all of the capital stock or other equity interests of each
Subsidiary free and clear of any "Liens” (which for purposes of this Agreement shall mean a lien, charge, security interest, encumbrance, right of first refusal, preemptive
right or other restriction), except as set forth in the SEC Reports, and all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of each Subsidiary are validly issued and are
fully paid, non-assessable and free of preemptive and similar rights to subscribe for or purchase securities.

 
(b) Organization and Qualification. The Company and each of the Subsidiaries is an entity duly incorporated or otherwise organized, validly existing and in good

standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organization, with the requisite power and authority to own and use its properties and assets and to
carry on its business as currently conducted. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is in violation or in default of any of the provisions of its respective certificate or
articles of incorporation, bylaws or other organizational or charter documents. Each of the Company and the Subsidiaries is duly qualified to conduct business and is in
good standing as a foreign corporation or other entity in each jurisdiction in which the nature of the business conducted or property owned by it makes such qualification
necessary, except where the failure to be so qualified or in good standing, as the case may be, would not have or reasonably be expected to result in: (i) a material adverse
effect on the legality, validity or enforceability of this Agreement, (ii) a material adverse effect on the results of operations, assets, business, prospects or condition
(financial or otherwise) of the Company and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, from that set forth in the Registration Statement, the Base Prospectus, any Prospectus
Supplement, the Prospectus or the Incorporated Documents, or (iii) a material adverse effect on the Company’s ability to perform in any material respect on a timely basis
its obligations under this Agreement (any of (i), (ii) or (iii), a " Material Adverse Effect”) and no "Proceeding” (which for purposes of this Agreement shall mean any
action, claim, suit, investigation or proceeding (including, without limitation, an informal investigation or partial proceeding, such as a deposition), whether commenced or
threatened) has been instituted in any such jurisdiction revoking, limiting or curtailing or seeking to revoke, limit or curtail such power and authority or qualification.
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(c ) Authorization and Enforcement. The Company has the requisite corporate power and authority to enter into and to consummate the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement and otherwise to carry out its obligations hereunder. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company and the
consummation by it of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly authorized by all necessary action on the part of the Company and no further action is
required by the Company, the Board or the Company’s stockholders in connection herewith other than in connection with the Required Approvals. This Agreement has
been duly executed and delivered by the Company and, when delivered in accordance with the terms hereof, will constitute the valid and binding obligation of the
Company enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, except (i) as limited by general equitable principles and applicable bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, moratorium and other laws of general application affecting enforcement of creditors’ rights generally, (ii) as limited by laws relating to the availability of
specific performance, injunctive relief or other equitable remedies and (iii) insofar as indemnification and contribution provisions may be limited by applicable law.

 
(d) No Conflicts. The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement, the issuance and sale of the Shares and the consummation by it of

the transactions contemplated hereby do not and will not (i) conflict with or violate any provision of the Company’s or any Subsidiary’s certificate or articles of
incorporation, bylaws or other organizational or charter documents, or (ii) conflict with, or constitute a default (or an event that with notice or lapse of time or both would
become a default) under, result in the creation of any Lien upon any of the properties or assets of the Company or any Subsidiary, or give to others any rights of
termination, amendment, anti-dilution or similar adjustments, acceleration or cancellation (with or without notice, lapse of time or both) of, any agreement, credit facility,
debt or other instrument (evidencing a Company or Subsidiary debt or otherwise) or other understanding to which the Company or any Subsidiary is a party or by which
any property or asset of the Company or any Subsidiary is bound or affected, or (iii) subject to the Required Approvals, conflict with or result in a violation of any law,
rule, regulation, order, judgment, injunction, decree or other restriction of any court or governmental authority to which the Company or a Subsidiary is subject (including
federal and state securities laws and regulations), or by which any property or asset of the Company or a Subsidiary is bound or affected; except in the case of each of
clauses (ii) and (iii), such as would not, individually or in the aggregate, have or reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

 
(e) Filings, Consents and Approvals. The Company is not required to obtain any consent, waiver, authorization or order of, give any notice to, or make any filing

or registration with, any court or other federal, state, local or other governmental authority or other "Person” (defined as an individual or corporation, partnership, trust,
incorporated or unincorporated association, joint venture, limited liability company, joint stock company, government (or an agency or subdivision thereof) or other entity
of any kind, including the Trading Market) in connection with the execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement, other than (i) the filings
required by this Agreement, (ii) the filing with the Commission of the Prospectus Supplement, (iii) the filing of application(s) to and approval by the Trading Market for the
listing of the Shares for trading thereon in the time and manner required thereby, and (iv) such filings as are required to be made under applicable state securities laws and
the rules and regulations of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. ("FINRA”) (collectively, the "Required Approvals”).
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(f) Issuance of Shares. The Shares are duly authorized and, when issued and paid for in accordance with this Agreement, will be duly and validly issued, fully
paid and nonassessable, free and clear of all Liens imposed by the Company. The Company has reserved from its duly authorized capital stock the maximum number of
shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant to this Agreement. The issuance by the Company of the Shares has been registered under the Act and all of the Shares are
freely transferable and tradable by the purchasers thereof without restriction (other than any restrictions arising solely from an act or omission of such a purchaser). The
Shares are being issued pursuant to the Registration Statement and the issuance of the Shares has been registered by the Company under the Act. The " Plan of
Distribution” section within the Registration Statement permits the issuance and sale of the Shares as contemplated by this Agreement. Upon receipt of the Shares, the
purchasers of such Shares will have good and marketable title to such Shares and the Shares will be freely tradable on the Trading Market.

 
(g) Capitalization. The capitalization of the Company is as set forth in the SEC Reports. The Company has not issued any capital stock since its most recently

filed periodic report under the Exchange Act, other than pursuant to the exercise of employee and/or consultants stock options or vesting of restricted stock units under
the Company’s equity incentive plans, the issuance of shares of Common Stock to employees and/or consultants pursuant to the Company’s equity incentive plans and
pursuant to the conversion and/or exercise of securities exercisable, exchangeable or convertible into Common Stock ("Common Stock Equivalents”) outstanding as of the
date of the most recently filed periodic report under the Exchange Act. No Person has any right of first refusal, preemptive right, right of participation, or any similar right
to participate in the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Except as set forth in the SEC Reports, there are no outstanding options, warrants, scrip rights to
subscribe to, calls or commitments of any character whatsoever relating to, or securities, rights or obligations convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for, or giving
any Person any right to subscribe for or acquire, any shares of Common Stock or the capital stock of any Subsidiary, or contracts, commitments, understandings or
arrangements by which the Company or any Subsidiary is or may become bound to issue additional shares of Common Stock or Common Stock Equivalents or capital
stock of any Subsidiary. The issuance and sale of the Shares will not obligate the Company or any Subsidiary to issue shares of Common Stock or other securities to any
Person. There are no outstanding securities or instruments of the Company or any Subsidiary with any provision that adjusts the exercise, conversion, exchange or reset
price of such security or instrument upon an issuance of securities by the Company or any Subsidiary. There are no outstanding securities or instruments of the Company
or any Subsidiary that contain any redemption or similar provisions, and there are no contracts, commitments, understandings or arrangements by which the Company or
any Subsidiary is or may become bound to redeem a security of the Company or such Subsidiary. Except as contemplated by the Company’s equity incentive plans, the
Company does not have any stock appreciation rights or "phantom stock” plans or agreements or any similar plan or agreement. All of the outstanding shares of capital
stock of the Company are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable, have been issued in compliance with all federal and state securities laws, and
none of such outstanding shares was issued in violation of any preemptive rights or similar rights to subscribe for or purchase securities. No further approval or
authorization of any stockholder, the Board or others is required for the issuance and sale of the Shares. There are no stockholders agreements, voting agreements or
other similar agreements with respect to the Company’s capital stock to which the Company is a party or, to the knowledge of the Company, between or among any of the
Company’s stockholders.
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(h) Registration Statement. The Company meets the requirements for use of Form S-3 under the Act and has prepared and filed with the Commission the
Registration Statement, including a related Base Prospectus, for registration under the Act of the offering and sale of the Shares. Such Registration Statement is effective
and available for the offer and sale of the Shares as of the date hereof. As filed, the Base Prospectus contains all information required by the Act and the rules thereunder,
and, except to the extent the Manager shall agree in writing to a modification, shall be in all substantive respects in the form furnished to the Manager prior to the
Execution Time or prior to any such time this representation is repeated or deemed to be made. The Registration Statement, at the Execution Time, each such time this
representation is repeated or deemed to be made, and at all times during which a prospectus is required by the Act to be delivered (whether physically or through
compliance with Rule 172, 173 or any similar rule) in connection with any offer or sale of the Shares, meets the requirements set forth in Rule 415(a)(1)(x). The initial
Effective Date of the Registration Statement was not earlier than the date three years before the Execution Time. The Company meets the transaction requirements as set
forth in General Instruction I.B.1 of Form S-3 or, if applicable, as set forth in General Instruction I.B.6 of Form S-3 with respect to the aggregate market value of securities
being sold pursuant to this offering and during the last twelve (12) months prior to this offering.
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(i) Accuracy of Incorporated Documents. The Incorporated Documents, when they were filed with the Commission, conformed in all material respects to the
requirements of the Exchange Act and the rules thereunder, and none of the Incorporated Documents, when they were filed with the Commission, contained any untrue
statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made not
misleading; and any further documents so filed and incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement, the Base Prospectus, the Prospectus Supplement or the
Prospectus, when such documents are filed with the Commission, will conform in all material respects to the requirements of the Exchange Act and the rules thereunder, as
applicable, and will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

 
(j) Ineligible Issuer. (i) At the earliest time after the filing of the Registration Statement that the Company or another offering participant made a bona fide offer

(within the meaning of Rule 164(h)(2)) of the Shares and (ii) as of the Execution Time and on each such time this representation is repeated or deemed to be made (with
such date being used as the determination date for purposes of this clause (ii)), the Company was not and is not an Ineligible Issuer (as defined in Rule 405), without
taking account of any determination by the Commission pursuant to Rule 405 that it is not necessary that the Company be considered an Ineligible Issuer.

 
(k) Free Writing Prospectus. The Company is eligible to use Issuer Free Writing Prospectuses. Each Issuer Free Writing Prospectus does not include any

information the substance of which conflicts with the information contained in the Registration Statement, including any Incorporated Documents and any prospectus
supplement deemed to be a part thereof that has not been superseded or modified; and each Issuer Free Writing Prospectus does not contain any untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading. The foregoing sentence does not apply to statements in or omissions from any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus based upon and in conformity with written
information furnished to the Company by the Manager specifically for use therein. Any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus that the Company is required to file pursuant to
Rule 433(d) has been, or will be, filed with the Commission in accordance with the requirements of the Act and the rules thereunder. Each Issuer Free Writing Prospectus
that the Company has filed, or is required to file, pursuant to Rule 433(d) or that was prepared by or behalf of or used by the Company complies or will comply in all
material respects with the requirements of the Act and the rules thereunder. The Company will not, without the prior consent of the Manager, prepare, use or refer to, any
Issuer Free Writing Prospectuses.
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(l) Proceedings Related to Registration Statement. The Registration Statement is not the subject of a pending proceeding or examination under Section 8(d) or
8(e) of the Act, and the Company is not the subject of a pending proceeding under Section 8A of the Act in connection with the offering of the Shares. The Company has
not received any notice that the Commission has issued or intends to issue a stop-order with respect to the Registration Statement or that the Commission otherwise has
suspended or withdrawn the effectiveness of the Registration Statement, either temporarily or permanently, or intends or has threatened in writing to do so.

 
(m) SEC Reports. The Company has filed all reports, schedules, forms, statements and other documents required to be filed by the Company under the Act and

the Exchange Act, including pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) thereof, for the two years preceding the date hereof (or such shorter period as the Company was required
by law or regulation to file such material) (the foregoing materials, including the exhibits thereto and documents incorporated by reference therein, together with the
Prospectus and the Prospectus Supplement, being collectively referred to herein as the "SEC Reports”) on a timely basis or has received a valid extension of such time of
filing and has filed any such SEC Reports prior to the expiration of any such extension. As of their respective dates, the SEC Reports complied in all material respects with
the requirements of the Act and the Exchange Act, as applicable, and none of the SEC Reports, when filed, contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to
state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading. The financial statements of the Company included in the SEC Reports comply in all material respects with applicable accounting requirements and the rules
and regulations of the Commission with respect thereto as in effect at the time of filing. Such financial statements have been prepared in accordance with United States
generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis during the periods involved ("GAAP”), except as may be otherwise specified in such financial
statements or the notes thereto and except that unaudited financial statements may not contain all footnotes required by GAAP, and fairly present in all material respects
the financial position of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries as of and for the dates thereof and the results of operations and cash flows for the periods then
ended, subject, in the case of unaudited statements, to normal, immaterial, year-end audit adjustments.

 
(n) [RESERVED]
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(o) Material Changes; Undisclosed Events, Liabilities or Developments. Since the date of the latest audited financial statements included within the SEC Reports,
except as specifically disclosed in a subsequent SEC Report filed prior to the date on which this representation is being made, (i) there has been no event, occurrence or
development that has had or that could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, (ii) the Company has not incurred any liabilities (contingent or
otherwise) other than (A) trade payables and accrued expenses incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice and (B) liabilities not required to
be reflected in the Company’s financial statements pursuant to GAAP or disclosed in filings made with the Commission, (iii) the Company has not altered its method of
accounting, (iv) the Company has not declared or made any dividend or distribution of cash or other property to its stockholders or purchased, redeemed or made any
agreements to purchase or redeem any shares of its capital stock, (v) the Company has not issued any equity securities to any officer, director or "Affiliate” (defined as
any Person that, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls or is controlled by or is under common control with a Person, as such terms are used in
and construed under Rule 144 under the Act), except pursuant to existing Company equity incentive plans, and (vi) no executive officer of the Company or member of the
Board has resigned from any position with the Company. The Company does not have pending before the Commission any request for confidential treatment of
information. Except for the issuance of the Shares contemplated by this Agreement, no event, liability, fact, circumstance, occurrence or development has occurred or
exists or is reasonably expected to occur or exist with respect to the Company or its Subsidiaries or their respective businesses, prospects, properties, operations, assets
or financial condition that would be required to be disclosed by the Company under applicable securities laws at the time this representation is made or deemed made that
has not been publicly disclosed at least one (1) Trading Day prior to the date that this representation is made.

 
(p) Litigation. Except as set forth in the SEC Reports, there is no action, suit, inquiry, notice of violation, proceeding or investigation pending or, to the

knowledge of the Company, threatened against or affecting the Company, any Subsidiary or any of their respective properties before or by any court, arbitrator,
governmental or administrative agency or regulatory authority (federal, state, county, local or foreign) required to be disclosed in the SEC Reports (collectively, an
"Action”). None of the Actions set forth in the SEC Reports, (i) adversely affects or challenges the legality, validity or enforceability of this Agreement or the Shares or (ii)
could, if there were an unfavorable decision, have or reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary, nor any
director or officer thereof, is or has been the subject of any Action involving a claim of violation of or liability under federal or state securities laws or a claim of breach of
fiduciary duty. There has not been, and to the knowledge of the Company, there is not pending or contemplated, any investigation by the Commission involving the
Company or any current or former director or officer of the Company. The Commission has not issued any stop order or other order suspending the effectiveness of any
registration statement filed by the Company or any Subsidiary under the Exchange Act or the Act.
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(q) Labor Relations. No labor dispute exists or, to the knowledge of the Company, is imminent with respect to any of the employees of the Company, which could
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. None of the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ employees is a member of a union that relates to such
employee’s relationship with the Company or such Subsidiary, and neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to a collective bargaining agreement, and the
Company and its Subsidiaries believe that their relationships with their employees are good. To the knowledge of the Company, no executive officer of the Company or
any Subsidiary, is, or is now expected to be, in violation of any material term of any employment contract, confidentiality, disclosure or proprietary information agreement
or non-competition agreement, or any other contract or agreement or any restrictive covenant in favor of any third party, and the continued employment of each such
executive officer does not subject the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to any liability with respect to any of the foregoing matters. The Company and its Subsidiaries
are in compliance with all applicable U.S. federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations relating to employment and employment practices, terms and conditions of
employment and wages and hours, except where the failure to be in compliance would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect.

 
(r) Compliance. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary: (i) is in default under or in violation of (and no event has occurred that has not been waived that, with

notice or lapse of time or both, would result in a default by the Company or any Subsidiary under), nor has the Company or any Subsidiary received notice of a claim that
it is in default under or that it is in violation of, any indenture, loan or credit agreement or any other agreement or instrument to which it is a party or by which it or any of
its properties is bound (whether or not such default or violation has been waived), (ii) is in violation of any judgment, decree or order of any court, arbitrator or other
governmental authority or (iii) is or has been in violation of any statute, rule, ordinance or regulation of any governmental authority, including without limitation all
foreign, federal, state and local laws relating to taxes, environmental protection, occupational health and safety, product quality and safety and employment and labor
matters, except in each case as would not have or reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

 
(s) Environmental Laws. The Company and its Subsidiaries (i) are in compliance with all federal, state, local and foreign laws relating to pollution or protection of

human health or the environment (including ambient air, surface water, groundwater, land surface or subsurface strata), including laws relating to emissions, discharges,
releases or threatened releases of chemicals, pollutants, contaminants, or toxic or hazardous substances or wastes (collectively, " Hazardous Materials”) into the
environment, or otherwise relating to the manufacture, processing, distribution, use, treatment, storage, disposal, transport or handling of Hazardous Materials, as well as
all authorizations, codes, decrees, demands, or demand letters, injunctions, judgments, licenses, notices or notice letters, orders, permits, plans or regulations, issued,
entered, promulgated or approved thereunder ("Environmental Laws”); (ii) have received all permits licenses or other approvals required of them under applicable
Environmental Laws to conduct their respective businesses; and (iii) are in compliance with all terms and conditions of any such permit, license or approval where in each
clause (i), (ii) and (iii), the failure to so comply could be reasonably expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect.
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(t) Regulatory Permits. The Company and the Subsidiaries possess all certificates, authorizations and permits issued by the appropriate federal, state, local or
foreign regulatory authorities necessary to conduct their respective businesses as described in the SEC Reports, except where the failure to possess such permits would
not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect (" Material Permits”), and neither the Company nor any Subsidiary has received any notice of
proceedings relating to the revocation or modification of any Material Permit.

 
(u) Title to Assets . Except as set forth in the SEC Reports, the Company and the Subsidiaries have good and marketable title in fee simple to all real property

owned by them and good and marketable title in all personal property owned by them that is material to the business of the Company and the Subsidiaries, in each case
free and clear of all Liens, except for (i) Liens as do not materially affect the value of such property and do not materially interfere with the use made and proposed to be
made of such property by the Company and the Subsidiaries and (ii) Liens for the payment of federal, state or other taxes, for which appropriate reserves have been made
therefor in accordance with GAAP and, the payment of which is neither delinquent nor subject to penalties. Any real property and facilities held under lease by the
Company and the Subsidiaries are held by them under valid, subsisting and enforceable leases with which the Company and the Subsidiaries are in compliance.

 
(v) Intellectual Property. The Company and the Subsidiaries have, or have rights to use, all patents, patent applications, trademarks, trademark applications,

service marks, trade names, trade secrets, inventions, copyrights, licenses and other intellectual property rights and similar rights necessary or required for use in
connection with their respective businesses as described in the SEC Reports and which the failure to so have could have a Material Adverse Effect (collectively, the
"Intellectual Property Rights”). None of, and neither the Company nor any Subsidiary has received a notice (written or otherwise) that any of, the Intellectual Property
Rights has expired, terminated or been abandoned, or is expected to expire or terminate or be abandoned, within two (2) years from the date of this Agreement. Neither the
Company nor any Subsidiary has received, since the date of the latest audited financial statements included within the SEC Reports, a written notice of a claim or
otherwise has any knowledge that the Intellectual Property Rights violate or infringe upon the rights of any Person, except as would not have or reasonably be expected
to not have a Material Adverse Effect. To the knowledge of the Company, all such Intellectual Property Rights are enforceable and there is no existing infringement by
another Person of any of the Intellectual Property Rights. The Company and its Subsidiaries have taken reasonable security measures to protect the secrecy,
confidentiality and value of all of their intellectual properties, except where failure to do so would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect.
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(w) Insurance. The Company and the Subsidiaries are insured by insurers of recognized financial responsibility against such losses and risks and in such
amounts as are prudent and customary in the businesses in which the Company and the Subsidiaries are engaged, including, but not limited to, directors and officers
insurance coverage. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary has any reason to believe that it will not be able to renew its existing insurance coverage as and when such
coverage expires or to obtain similar coverage from similar insurers as may be necessary to continue its business without a significant increase in cost.

 
(x) Affiliate Transactions. Except as set forth in the SEC Reports, none of the officers or directors of the Company or any Subsidiary and, to the knowledge of the

Company, none of the employees of the Company or any Subsidiary is presently a party to any transaction with the Company or any Subsidiary (other than for services
as employees, officers and directors), including any contract, agreement or other arrangement providing for the furnishing of services to or by, providing for rental of real
or personal property to or from, providing for the borrowing of money from or lending of money to or otherwise requiring payments to or from any officer, director or such
employee or, to the knowledge of the Company, any entity in which any officer, director, or any such employee has a substantial interest or is an officer, director, trustee,
stockholder, member or partner, in each case in excess of $120,000 other than for (i) payment of salary or consulting fees for services rendered, (ii) reimbursement for
expenses incurred on behalf of the Company and (iii) other employee benefits, including stock option and restricted stock unit agreements under any equity incentive plan
of the Company.

 
(y) Sarbanes Oxley Compliance. The Company and the Subsidiaries are in compliance with any and all applicable requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,

as amended, that are effective as of the date hereof, and any and all applicable rules and regulations promulgated by the Commission thereunder that are effective as of
the date hereof. The Company and the Subsidiaries maintain a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurance that: (i) transactions are
executed in accordance with management’s general or specific authorizations, (ii) transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
conformity with GAAP and to maintain asset accountability, (iii) access to assets is permitted only in accordance with management’s general or specific authorization, and
(iv) the recorded accountability for assets is compared with the existing assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate action is taken with respect to any differences. The
Company and the Subsidiaries have established disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the Company and the
Subsidiaries and designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports it files or submits
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and forms. The Company’s
certifying officers have evaluated the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures of the Company and the Subsidiaries as of the end of the period covered by
the most recently filed periodic report under the Exchange Act (such date, the "Evaluation Date”). The Company presented in its most recently filed periodic report under
the Exchange Act the conclusions of the certifying officers about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on their evaluations as of the
Evaluation Date. Since the Evaluation Date, there have been no changes in the internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in the Exchange Act) of the
Company and its Subsidiaries that have materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the internal control over financial reporting of the Company and its
Subsidiaries.
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(z) Certain Fees. Other than payments to be made to the Manager, no brokerage or finder’s fees or commissions are or will be payable by the Company or any
Subsidiary to any broker, financial advisor or consultant, finder, placement agent, investment banker, bank or other Person with respect to the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement. The Manager shall have no obligation with respect to any fees or with respect to any claims made by or on behalf of other Persons for fees of a type
contemplated in this Section that may be due in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

 
(aa) No Other Sales Agency Agreement . The Company has not entered into any other sales agency agreements or other similar arrangements with any agent or

any other representative in respect of at the market offerings of the Shares.
 

(bb) [RESERVED]
 

(cc) Listing and Maintenance Requirements. The Common Stock is listed on the Trading Market and the issuance of the Shares as contemplated by this
Agreement does not contravene the rules and regulations of the Trading Market. The Common Stock is registered pursuant to Section 12(b) or 12(g) of the Exchange Act,
and the Company has taken no action designed to, or which to its knowledge is likely to have the effect of, terminating the registration of the Common Stock under the
Exchange Act nor has the Company received any notification that the Commission is contemplating terminating such registration. The Company has not, in the 12 months
preceding the date hereof, received notice from any Trading Market on which the Common Stock is or has been listed or quoted to the effect that the Company is not in
compliance with the listing or maintenance requirements of such Trading Market. The Company is, and has no reason to believe that it will not in the foreseeable future
continue to be, in compliance with all such listing and maintenance requirements. The Common Stock is currently eligible for electronic transfer through the Depository
Trust Company or another established clearing corporation and the Company is current in payment of the fees to the Depository Trust Company (or such other
established clearing corporation) in connection with such electronic transfer.
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(dd) Application of Takeover Protections. The Company and the Board have taken all necessary action, if any, in order to render inapplicable any control share
acquisition, business combination, poison pill (including any distribution under a rights agreement) or other similar anti-takeover provision under the Company’s
certificate of incorporation (or similar charter documents) or the laws of its state of incorporation that is or could become applicable to the Shares.

 
(ee) Solvency. Except as set forth in the SEC Reports, based on the consolidated financial condition of the Company as of the date hereof, (i) the fair saleable

value of the Company’s assets exceeds the amount that will be required to be paid on or in respect of the Company’s existing debts and other liabilities (including known
contingent liabilities) as they mature, (ii) the Company’s assets do not constitute unreasonably small capital to carry on its business as now conducted and as proposed
to be conducted including its capital needs taking into account the particular capital requirements of the business conducted by the Company, consolidated and projected
capital requirements and capital availability thereof, and (iii) the current cash flow of the Company, together with the proceeds the Company would receive, were it to
liquidate all of its assets, after taking into account all anticipated uses of the cash, would be sufficient to pay all amounts on or in respect of its liabilities when such
amounts are required to be paid. The Company does not intend to incur debts beyond its ability to pay such debts as they mature (taking into account the timing and
amounts of cash to be payable on or in respect of its debt) within one year from the date hereof. The Company has no knowledge of any facts or circumstances which lead
it to believe that it will file for reorganization or liquidation under the bankruptcy or reorganization laws of any jurisdiction within one year from the date hereof. The SEC
Reports set forth as of the date hereof all outstanding secured and unsecured Indebtedness of the Company or any Subsidiary, or for which the Company or any
Subsidiary has commitments. For the purposes of this Agreement, " Indebtedness” means (x) any liabilities for borrowed money or amounts owed in excess of $50,000
(other than trade accounts payable incurred in the ordinary course of business), (y) all guaranties, endorsements and other contingent obligations in respect of
indebtedness of others, whether or not the same are or should be reflected in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet (or the notes thereto), except guaranties by
endorsement of negotiable instruments for deposit or collection or similar transactions in the ordinary course of business; and (z) the present value of any lease payments
in excess of $50,000 due under leases required to be capitalized in accordance with GAAP. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is in default with respect to any
Indebtedness.
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(ff) Tax Status. Except for matters that would not, individually or in the aggregate, have or reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, the
Company and its Subsidiaries each (i) has made or filed all United States federal, state and local income and all foreign income and franchise tax returns, reports and
declarations required by any jurisdiction to which it is subject, (ii) has paid all taxes and other governmental assessments and charges that are material in amount, shown
or determined to be due on such returns, reports and declarations and (iii) has set aside on its books provision reasonably adequate for the payment of all material taxes
for periods subsequent to the periods to which such returns, reports or declarations apply. There are no unpaid taxes in any material amount claimed to be due by the
taxing authority of any jurisdiction, and the officers of the Company or of any Subsidiary know of no basis for any such claim.

 
(gg) Foreign Corrupt Practices. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary, nor to the knowledge of the Company or any Subsidiary, any agent or other person

acting on behalf of the Company or any Subsidiary, has (i) directly or indirectly, used any funds for unlawful contributions, gifts, entertainment or other unlawful
expenses related to foreign or domestic political activity, (ii) made any unlawful payment to foreign or domestic government officials or employees or to any foreign or
domestic political parties or campaigns from corporate funds, (iii) failed to disclose fully any contribution made by the Company or any Subsidiary (or made by any person
acting on its behalf of which the Company is aware) which is in violation of law, or (iv) violated in any material respect any provision of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act
of 1977, as amended.

 
(hh) Accountants. The Company’s accounting firm is set forth in the SEC Reports. To the knowledge and belief of the Company, such accounting firm (i) is a

registered public accounting firm as required by the Exchange Act and (ii) shall express its opinion with respect to the financial statements to be included in the
Company’s Annual Report for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2024.

 
(ii) Regulation M Compliance. The Company has not, and to its knowledge no one acting on its behalf has, (i) taken, directly or indirectly, any action designed to

cause or to result in the stabilization or manipulation of the price of any security of the Company to facilitate the sale or resale of any of the Shares, (ii) sold, bid for,
purchased, or, paid any compensation for soliciting purchases of, any of the Shares, or (iii) paid or agreed to pay to any Person any compensation for soliciting another to
purchase any other securities of the Company, other than, in the case of clauses (ii) and (iii), compensation paid to the Manager in connection with the Shares.
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(jj) [RESERVED]
 

(kk) Stock Option Plans. Each stock option granted by the Company under the Company’s equity incentive plans was granted (i) in accordance with the terms of
the Company’s equity incentive plans and (ii) with an exercise price at least equal to the fair market value of the Common Stock on the date such stock option would be
considered granted under GAAP and applicable law. No stock option granted under the Company’s equity incentive plans has been backdated. The Company has not
knowingly granted, and there is no and has been no Company policy or practice to knowingly grant, stock options prior to, or otherwise knowingly coordinate the grant
of stock options with, the release or other public announcement of material information regarding the Company or its Subsidiaries or their financial results or prospects.

 
(ll) Cybersecurity. (i)(x) There has been no material security breach or other material compromise of or relating to any of the Company’s or any Subsidiary’s

information technology and computer systems, networks, hardware, software, data (including the data of its respective customers, employees, suppliers, vendors and any
third party data maintained by or on behalf of it), equipment or technology (collectively, " IT Systems and Data”) and (y) the Company and the Subsidiaries have not been
notified of, and has no knowledge of any event or condition that would reasonably be expected to result in, any security breach or other compromise to its IT Systems
and Data; (ii) the Company and the Subsidiaries are presently in compliance with all applicable laws or statutes and all judgments, orders, rules and regulations of any
court or arbitrator or governmental or regulatory authority, internal policies and contractual obligations relating to the privacy and security of IT Systems and Data and to
the protection of such IT Systems and Data from unauthorized use, access, misappropriation or modification, except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a
Material Adverse Effect; (iii) the Company and the Subsidiaries have implemented and maintained commercially reasonable safeguards to maintain and protect its material
confidential information and the integrity, continuous operation, redundancy and security of all IT Systems and Data; and (iv) the Company and the Subsidiaries have
implemented backup and disaster recovery technology consistent with industry standards and practices.
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(mm) Compliance with Data Privacy Laws. (i) The Company and the Subsidiaries are, and at all times during the past three years were, in material compliance with
all applicable data privacy and security laws and regulations, including, as applicable, the European Union General Data Protection Regulation ("GDPR”) (EU 2016/679)
(collectively, "Privacy Laws”); (ii) the Company and the Subsidiaries have in place, comply with, in all material respects, and take appropriate steps reasonably designed
to ensure compliance with their policies and procedures relating to data privacy and security and the collection, storage, use, disclosure, handling and analysis of
Personal Data (the "Policies”); (iii) the Company provides accurate notice of its applicable Policies to its customers, employees, third party vendors and representatives as
required by Privacy Laws; and (iv) applicable Policies provide accurate and sufficient notice of the Company’s then-current privacy practices relating to its subject matter,
and do not contain any material omissions of the Company’s then-current privacy practices, as required by Privacy Laws. " Personal Data” means (i) a natural person’s
name, street address, telephone number, email address, photograph, social security number, bank information, or customer or account number; (ii) any information which
would qualify as "personally identifying information” under the Federal Trade Commission Act, as amended; (iii) "personal data” as defined by GDPR; and (iv) any other
piece of information that allows the identification of such natural person, or his or her family, or permits the collection or analysis of any identifiable data related to an
identified person’s health or sexual orientation. (i) None of such disclosures made or contained in any of the Policies have been inaccurate, misleading, or deceptive in
violation of any Privacy Laws and (ii) the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement will not result in a breach of any Privacy Laws or Policies. Neither the
Company nor the Subsidiaries, (i) has, to the knowledge of the Company, received written notice of any actual or potential liability of the Company or the Subsidiaries
under, or actual or potential violation by the Company or the Subsidiaries of, any of the Privacy Laws; (ii) is currently conducting or paying for, in whole or in part, any
investigation, remediation or other corrective action pursuant to any regulatory request or demand pursuant to any Privacy Law; or (iii) is a party to any order, decree, or
agreement by or with any court or arbitrator or governmental or regulatory authority that imposed any obligation or liability under any Privacy Law.

 
(nn) Office of Foreign Assets Control. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries, nor to the knowledge of the Company, any of the directors, officers or

employees of the Company or its Subsidiaries, is an individual or entity that is, or is owned or controlled by an individual or entity that is: (i) the subject of any sanctions
administered or enforced by the U.S. Department of Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control, the United Nations Security Council, the European Union, Her Majesty’s
Treasury, or other relevant sanctions authority (collectively, " Sanctions”), nor (ii) located, organized or resident in a country or territory that is the subject of Sanctions.
Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries will, directly or indirectly, use the proceeds of the transactions contemplated hereby, or lend, contribute or otherwise
make available such proceeds to any Subsidiary, joint venture partner or other individual or entity: (i) to fund or facilitate any activities or business of or with any
individual or entity or in any country or territory that, at the time of such funding or facilitation, is the subject of Sanctions or (ii) in any other manner that will result in a
violation of Sanctions by any individual or entity (including any individual or entity participating in the transactions contemplated hereby, whether as underwriter,
advisor, investor or otherwise). For the past five years, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has knowingly engaged in, and is not now knowingly engaged in,
any dealings or transactions with any individual or entity, or in any country or territory, that at the time of the dealing or transaction is or was the subject of Sanctions.
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(oo) U.S. Real Property Holding Corporation. The Company is not and has never been a U.S. real property holding corporation within the meaning of Section 897
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the Company shall so certify upon the Manager’s request.

 
(pp) Bank Holding Company Act. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates is subject to the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended

(the "BHCA”) and to regulation by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (the "Federal Reserve”). Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries or
Affiliates owns or controls, directly or indirectly, five percent (5%) or more of the outstanding shares of any class of voting securities or twenty-five percent (25%) or
more of the total equity of a bank or any entity that is subject to the BHCA and to regulation by the Federal Reserve. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries or
Affiliates exercises a controlling influence over the management or policies of a bank or any entity that is subject to the BHCA and to regulation by the Federal Reserve.

 
(qq) Money Laundering. The operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries are and have been conducted at all times in compliance with applicable financial

record-keeping and reporting requirements of the Currency and Foreign Transactions Reporting Act of 1970, as amended, applicable money laundering statutes and
applicable rules and regulations thereunder (collectively, the " Money Laundering Laws”), and no Action or Proceeding by or before any court or governmental agency,
authority or body or any arbitrator involving the Company or any Subsidiary with respect to the Money Laundering Laws is pending or, to the knowledge of the
Company or any Subsidiary, threatened.

 
(rr) FINRA Member Shareholders. There are no affiliations with any FINRA member firm among the Company’s officers, directors or, to the knowledge of the

Company, any five percent (5%) or greater stockholder of the Company, except as set forth in the Registration Statement, the Base Prospectus, any Prospectus
Supplement or the Prospectus.
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4. Agreements. The Company agrees with the Manager that:
 

(a) Right to Review Amendments and Supplements to Registration Statement and Prospectus . During any period when the delivery of a prospectus relating to
the Shares is required (including in circumstances where such requirement may be satisfied pursuant to Rule 172, 173 or any similar rule) to be delivered under the Act in
connection with the offering or the sale of Shares, the Company will not file any amendment to the Registration Statement or supplement (including any Prospectus
Supplement) to the Base Prospectus unless the Company has furnished to the Manager a copy for its review prior to filing and will not file any such proposed amendment
or supplement to which the Manager reasonably objects (provided, however, that the Company will have no obligation to provide the Manager any advance copy of such
filing or to provide the Manager an opportunity to object to such filing if the filing does not name the Manager and does not relate to the transactions under this
Agreement). The Company has properly completed the Prospectus, in a form approved by the Manager, and filed such Prospectus, as amended at the Execution Time,
with the Commission pursuant to the applicable paragraph of Rule 424(b) by the Execution Time and will cause any supplement to the Prospectus to be properly
completed, in a form approved by the Manager, and will file such supplement with the Commission pursuant to the applicable paragraph of Rule 424(b) within the time
period prescribed thereby and will provide evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Manager of such timely filing. The Company will promptly advise the Manager (i) when
the Prospectus, and any supplement thereto, shall have been filed (if required) with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b), (ii) when, during any period when the
delivery of a prospectus (whether physically or through compliance with Rule 172, 173 or any similar rule) is required under the Act in connection with the offering or sale
of the Shares, any amendment to the Registration Statement shall have been filed or become effective (other than any annual report of the Company filed pursuant to
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act), (iii) of any request by the Commission or its staff for any amendment of the Registration Statement, or for any supplement to
the Prospectus or for any additional information, (iv) of the issuance by the Commission of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement or
of any notice objecting to its use or the institution or threatening of any proceeding for that purpose and (v) of the receipt by the Company of any notification with
respect to the suspension of the qualification of the Shares for sale in any jurisdiction or the institution or threatening of any proceeding for such purpose. The Company
will use commercially reasonable efforts to prevent the issuance of any such stop order or the occurrence of any such suspension or objection to the use of the
Registration Statement and, upon such issuance, occurrence or notice of objection, to obtain as soon as possible the withdrawal of such stop order or relief from such
occurrence or objection, including, if necessary, by filing an amendment to the Registration Statement or a new registration statement and using commercially reasonable
efforts to have such amendment or new registration statement declared effective as soon as practicable.

 
(b) Subsequent Events. If, at any time on or after an Applicable Time but prior to the related Settlement Date, any event occurs as a result of which the

Registration Statement or Prospectus would include any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein in
the light of the circumstances under which they were made or the circumstances then prevailing not misleading, the Company will (i) notify promptly the Manager so that
any use of the Registration Statement or Prospectus may cease until such are amended or supplemented; (ii) amend or supplement the Registration Statement or
Prospectus to correct such statement or omission; and (iii) supply any such amendment or supplement to the Manager in such quantities as the Manager may reasonably
request.
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(c) Notification of Subsequent Filings. During any period when the delivery of a prospectus relating to the Shares is required (including in circumstances where
such requirement may be satisfied pursuant to Rule 172, 173 or any similar rule) to be delivered under the Act, any event occurs as a result of which the Prospectus as
then supplemented would include any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein in the light of the
circumstances under which they were made not misleading, or if it shall be necessary to amend the Registration Statement, file a new registration statement or supplement
the Prospectus to comply with the Act or the Exchange Act or the respective rules thereunder, including in connection with use or delivery of the Prospectus, the
Company promptly will (i) notify the Manager of any such event, (ii) subject to Section 4(a), prepare and file with the Commission an amendment or supplement or new
registration statement which will correct such statement or omission or effect such compliance, (iii) use commercially reasonable efforts to have any amendment to the
Registration Statement or new registration statement declared effective as soon as practicable in order to avoid any disruption in use of the Prospectus and (iv) supply
any supplemented Prospectus to the Manager in such quantities as the Manager may reasonably request.

 
(d) Earnings Statements. As soon as practicable, the Company will make generally available to its security holders and to the Manager an earnings statement or

statements of the Company and its Subsidiaries which will satisfy the provisions of Section 11(a) of the Act and Rule 158. For the avoidance of doubt, the Company’s
compliance with the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act shall be deemed to satisfy the requirements of this Section 4(d).

 
(e) Delivery of Registration Statement. Upon the request of the Manager, the Company will furnish to the Manager and counsel for the Manager, without charge,

signed copies of the Registration Statement (including exhibits thereto) and, so long as delivery of a prospectus by the Manager or dealer may be required by the Act
(including in circumstances where such requirement may be satisfied pursuant to Rule 172, 173 or any similar rule), as many copies of the Prospectus and each Issuer Free
Writing Prospectus and any supplement thereto as the Manager may reasonably request. The Company will pay the expenses of printing or other production of all
documents relating to the offering.

 
(f) Qualification of Shares. The Company will arrange, if necessary, for the qualification of the Shares for sale under the laws of such jurisdictions as the Manager

may designate and will maintain such qualifications in effect so long as required for the distribution of the Shares; provided that in no event shall the Company be
obligated to qualify to do business in any jurisdiction where it is not now so qualified or to take any action that would subject it to service of process in suits, other than
those arising out of the offering or sale of the Shares, in any jurisdiction where it is not now so subject.
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(g) Free Writing Prospectus. The Company agrees that, unless it has or shall have obtained the prior written consent of the Manager, and the Manager agrees
with the Company that, unless it has or shall have obtained, as the case may be, the prior written consent of the Company, it has not made and will not make any offer
relating to the Shares that would constitute an Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or that would otherwise constitute a "free writing prospectus” (as defined in Rule 405)
required to be filed by the Company with the Commission or retained by the Company under Rule 433. Any such free writing prospectus consented to by the Manager or
the Company is hereinafter referred to as a "Permitted Free Writing Prospectus.” The Company agrees that (i) it has treated and will treat, as the case may be, each
Permitted Free Writing Prospectus as an Issuer Free Writing Prospectus and (ii) it has complied and will comply, as the case may be, with the requirements of Rules 164
and 433 applicable to any Permitted Free Writing Prospectus, including in respect of timely filing with the Commission, legending and record keeping.

 
(h) Subsequent Equity Issuances. The Company shall not deliver any Sales Notice hereunder (and any Sales Notice previously delivered shall not apply during

such two (2) Trading Days) for at least two (2) Trading Days prior to any date on which the Company or any Subsidiary offers, sells, issues, contracts to sell, contracts to
issue or otherwise disposes of, directly or indirectly, any other shares of Common Stock or any Common Stock Equivalents (other than the Shares), subject to Manager’s
right to waive this obligation, provided that, without compliance with the foregoing obligation, the Company may (i) issue and sell Common Stock pursuant to any
employee and/or consultant equity incentive plan, stock ownership plan or dividend reinvestment plan of the Company in effect at the Execution Time (ii) issue Common
Stock issuable upon the conversion or exercise of Common Stock Equivalents outstanding at the Execution Time and (iii) issue Common Stock to employees, directors,
officers, consultants and advisors as compensation for employment or services in the ordinary course of business as set forth in the SEC Reports.

 
(i) Market Manipulation. Until the termination of this Agreement, the Company will not take, directly or indirectly, any action designed to or that would constitute

or that might reasonably be expected to cause or result in, under the Exchange Act or otherwise, stabilization or manipulation in violation of the Act, Exchange Act or the
rules and regulations thereunder of the price of any security of the Company to facilitate the sale or resale of the Shares or otherwise violate any provision of Regulation
M under the Exchange Act.

 
(j) Notification of Incorrect Certificate. The Company will, at any time during the term of this Agreement, as supplemented from time to time, advise the Manager

immediately after it shall have received notice or obtained knowledge thereof, of any information or fact that would alter or affect any opinion, certificate, letter and other
document provided to the Manager pursuant to Section 6 herein.
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(k) Certification of Accuracy of Disclosure. Upon commencement of the offering of the Shares under this Agreement (and upon the recommencement of the
offering of the Shares under this Agreement following the termination of a suspension of sales hereunder lasting more than 30 Trading Days), and each time that (i) the
Registration Statement or Prospectus shall be amended or supplemented, other than by means of Incorporated Documents, (ii) the Company files its Annual Report on
Form 10-K under the Exchange Act, (iii) the Company files its quarterly reports on Form 10-Q under the Exchange Act, (iv) the Company files a Current Report on Form 8-K
containing amended financial information (other than information that is furnished and not filed), if the Manager reasonably determines that the information in such Form
8-K is material, or (v) the Shares are delivered to the Manager as principal at the Time of Delivery pursuant to a Terms Agreement (such commencement or
recommencement date and each such date referred to in (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) and (v) above, a "Representation Date”), unless waived by the Manager, the Company shall
furnish or cause to be furnished to the Manager forthwith a certificate dated and delivered on the Representation Date, in form reasonably satisfactory to the Manager to
the effect that the statements contained in the certificate referred to in Section 6 of this Agreement which were last furnished to the Manager are true and correct at the
Representation Date, as though made at and as of such date (except that such statements shall be deemed to relate to the Registration Statement and the Prospectus as
amended and supplemented to such date) or, in lieu of such certificate, a certificate of the same tenor as the certificate referred to in said Section 6, modified as necessary
to relate to the Registration Statement and the Prospectus as amended and supplemented to the date of delivery of such certificate.

 
(l) Bring Down Opinions; Negative Assurance. Within five (5) Trading Days of each Representation Date, unless waived by the Manager, the Company shall

furnish or cause to be furnished forthwith to the Manager and to counsel to the Manager a written opinion of counsel to the Company ("Company Counsel”) addressed
to the Manager and dated and delivered within five (5) Trading Days of such Representation Date, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Manager,
including a negative assurance representation. The requirement to furnish or cause to be furnished an opinion (but not with respect to a negative assurance
representation) under this Section 4(l) shall be waived for any Representation Date other than a Representation Date on which a material amendment to the Registration
Statement or Prospectus is made or the Company files its Annual Report on Form 10-K or a material amendment thereto under the Exchange Act, unless the Manager
reasonably requests such deliverable required by this Section 4(l) in connection with a Representation Date, upon which request such deliverable shall be deliverable
hereunder. Further, the requirement to furnish or cause to be furnished an opinion and a negative assurance representation letter under this Section 4(l) shall be waived
for such Representation Date occurring on a date on which no instruction to the Manager to sell Shares pursuant to this Agreement has been delivered by the Company
or is pending, provided that, if the Company subsequently decides to sell Shares following any such Representation Date when the Company relied on such waiver and
did not provide the Manager a negative assurance representation letter pursuant to this Section 4(l), then before the Company instructs the Manager to sell Shares
pursuant to this Agreement, the Company shall provide the Manager such opinion and negative assurance representation letter.
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(m) Auditor Bring Down "Comfort” Letter. Within five (5) Trading Days of each Representation Date, unless waived by the Manager, the Company shall cause
(1) the Company’s auditors (the "Accountants”), or other independent accountants satisfactory to the Manager forthwith to furnish the Manager a letter, and (2) the
Chief Financial Officer of the Company forthwith to furnish the Manager a certificate, in each case dated within five (5) Trading Days of such Representation Date, in form
and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Manager, of the same tenor as the letters and certificate referred to in Section 6 of this Agreement but modified to relate to
the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, as amended and supplemented to the date of such letters and certificate. The requirement to furnish or cause to be
furnished a "comfort” letter under this Section 4(m) shall be waived for any Representation Date other than a Representation Date on which a material amendment to the
Registration Statement or Prospectus is made or the Company files its Annual Report on Form 10-K or a material amendment thereto under the Exchange Act, unless the
Manager reasonably requests the deliverables required by this Section 4(m) in connection with a Representation Date, upon which request such deliverable shall be
deliverable hereunder. Further, the requirement to furnish or cause to be furnished a "comfort” letter and Chief Financial Officer certificate under this Section 4(m) shall be
waived for any such Representation Date occurring on a date on which no instruction to the Manager to sell Shares pursuant to this Agreement has been delivered by the
Company or is pending, provided that, if the Company subsequently decides to sell Shares following any such Representation Date when the Company relied on such
waiver and did not provide the Manager a "comfort” letter and Chief Financial Officer certificate pursuant to this Section 4(m), then before the Company instructs the
Manager to sell Shares pursuant to this Agreement, the Company shall provide the Manager such "comfort” letter and Chief Financial Officer certificate.

 
(n) Due Diligence Session. Upon commencement of the offering of the Shares under this Agreement (and upon the recommencement of the offering of the Shares

under this Agreement following the termination of a suspension of sales hereunder lasting more than 30 Trading Days), and at each Representation Date for which no
waiver is applicable pursuant to Section 4(k), the Company will conduct a due diligence session, in form and substance, reasonably satisfactory to the Manager, which
shall include representatives of management and Accountants. The Company shall cooperate timely with any reasonable due diligence request from or review conducted
by the Manager or its agents from time to time in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including, without limitation, providing information
and available documents and access to appropriate corporate officers and the Company’s agents during regular business hours, and timely furnishing or causing to be
furnished such certificates, letters and opinions from the Company, its officers and its agents, as the Manager may reasonably request. The Company shall reimburse the
Manager for Manager’s counsel’s fees in each such due diligence update session, up to a maximum of $2,500 per update, plus any incidental expense incurred by the
Manager in connection therewith.
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(o) Acknowledgment of Trading. The Company consents to the Manager trading in the Common Stock for the Manager’s own account and for the account of its
clients at the same time as sales of the Shares occur pursuant to this Agreement or pursuant to a Terms Agreement.

 
(p) Disclosure of Shares Sold. The Company will disclose in its Annual Reports on Form 10-K and Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, as applicable, the number of

Shares sold through the Manager under this Agreement, the Net Proceeds to the Company and the compensation paid by the Company with respect to sales of Shares
pursuant to this Agreement during the relevant quarter; and, if required by any subsequent change in Commission policy or request, more frequently by means of a
Current Report on Form 8-K or a further Prospectus Supplement.

 
(q) Rescission Right. If to the knowledge of the Company, the conditions set forth in Section 6 shall not have been satisfied as of the applicable Settlement Date,

the Company will offer to any person who has agreed to purchase Shares from the Company as the result of an offer to purchase solicited by the Manager the right to
refuse to purchase and pay for such Shares.

 
(r) Bring Down of Representations and Warranties . Each acceptance by the Company of an offer to purchase the Shares hereunder, and each execution and

delivery by the Company of a Terms Agreement, shall be deemed to be an affirmation to the Manager that the representations and warranties of the Company contained in
or made pursuant to this Agreement are true and correct as of the date of such acceptance or of such Terms Agreement as though made at and as of such date, and an
undertaking that such representations and warranties will be true and correct as of the Settlement Date for the Shares relating to such acceptance or as of the Time of
Delivery relating to such sale, as the case may be, as though made at and as of such date (except that such representations and warranties shall be deemed to relate to the
Registration Statement and the Prospectus as amended and supplemented relating to such Shares).
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(s) Reservation of Shares. The Company shall ensure that there are at all times sufficient shares of Common Stock to provide for the issuance, free of any
preemptive rights, out of its authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock or shares of Common Stock held in treasury, of the maximum aggregate number of Shares
authorized for issuance by the Board pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. The Company will use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Shares to be listed
for trading on the Trading Market and to maintain such listing.

 
(t) Obligation Under Exchange Act. During any period when the delivery of a prospectus relating to the Shares is required (including in circumstances where

such requirement may be satisfied pursuant to Rule 172, 173 or any similar rule) to be delivered under the Act, the Company will file all documents required to be filed with
the Commission pursuant to the Exchange Act within the time periods required by the Exchange Act and the regulations thereunder.

 
(u) DTC Facility. The Company shall cooperate with the Manager and use its reasonable efforts to permit the Shares to be eligible for clearance and settlement

through the facilities of DTC.
 

(v) Use of Proceeds. The Company will apply the Net Proceeds from the sale of the Shares in the manner set forth in the Prospectus.
 

(w) Filing of Prospectus Supplement. If any sales are made pursuant to this Agreement which are not made in "at the market” offerings as defined in Rule 415,
including, without limitation, any Placement pursuant to a Terms Agreement, the Company shall file a Prospectus Supplement describing the terms of such transaction,
the amount of Shares sold, the price thereof, the Manager’s compensation, and such other information as may be required pursuant to Rule 424 and Rule 430B, as
applicable, within the time required by Rule 424.

 
(x) Additional Registration Statement. To the extent that the Registration Statement is not available for the sales of the Shares as contemplated by this

Agreement, the Company shall file a new registration statement with respect to any additional shares of Common Stock necessary to complete such sales of the Shares
and shall cause such registration statement to become effective as promptly as practicable. After the effectiveness of any such registration statement, all references to
"Registration Statement” included in this Agreement shall be deemed to include such new registration statement, including all documents incorporated by reference
therein pursuant to Item 12 of Form S-3, and all references to "Base Prospectus” included in this Agreement shall be deemed to include the final form of prospectus,
including all documents incorporated therein by reference, included in any such registration statement at the time such registration statement became effective.
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5. Payment of Expenses. The Company agrees to pay the costs and expenses incident to the performance of its obligations under this Agreement, whether or not the
transactions contemplated hereby are consummated, including without limitation: (i) the preparation, printing or reproduction and filing with the Commission of the Registration
Statement (including financial statements and exhibits thereto), the Prospectus and each Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, and each amendment or supplement to any of them; (ii)
the printing (or reproduction) and delivery (including postage, air freight charges and charges for counting and packaging) of such copies of the Registration Statement, the
Prospectus, and each Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, and all amendments or supplements to any of them, as may, in each case, be reasonably requested for use in connection with
the offering and sale of the Shares; (iii) the preparation, printing, authentication, issuance and delivery of certificates for the Shares, including any stamp or transfer taxes in
connection with the original issuance and sale of the Shares; (iv) the printing (or reproduction) and delivery of this Agreement, any blue sky memorandum and all other agreements
or documents printed (or reproduced) and delivered in connection with the offering of the Shares; (v) the registration of the Shares under the Exchange Act, if applicable, and the
listing of the Shares on the Trading Market; (vi) any registration or qualification of the Shares for offer and sale under the securities or blue sky laws of the several states
(including filing fees and the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel for the Manager relating to such registration and qualification); (vii) the transportation and other expenses
incurred by or on behalf of Company representatives in connection with presentations to prospective purchasers of the Shares; (viii) the fees and expenses of the Company’s
accountants and the fees and expenses of counsel (including local and special counsel) for the Company; (ix) the filing fee under FINRA Rule 5110; (x) the reasonable fees and
expenses of the Manager’s counsel, not to exceed $50,000 (excluding any periodic due diligence fees provided for under Section 4(n)), which shall be paid upon the Execution
Time; and (xi) all other costs and expenses incident to the performance by the Company of its obligations hereunder.
 

6. Conditions to the Obligations of the Manager. The obligations of the Manager under this Agreement and any Terms Agreement shall be subject to (i) the accuracy of
the representations and warranties on the part of the Company contained herein as of the Execution Time, each Representation Date, and as of each Applicable Time, Settlement
Date and Time of Delivery, (ii) the performance by the Company of its obligations hereunder and (iii) the following additional conditions:
 

(a) Filing of Prospectus Supplement. The Prospectus, and any supplement thereto, required by Rule 424 to be filed with the Commission have been filed in the
manner and within the time period required by Rule 424(b) with respect to any sale of Shares; each Prospectus Supplement shall have been filed in the manner required by
Rule 424(b) within the time period required hereunder and under the Act; any other material required to be filed by the Company pursuant to Rule 433(d) under the Act,
shall have been filed with the Commission within the applicable time periods prescribed for such filings by Rule 433; and no stop order suspending the effectiveness of
the Registration Statement or any notice objecting to its use shall have been issued and no proceedings for that purpose shall have been instituted or threatened.
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(b) Delivery of Opinion. The Company shall have caused the Company Counsel to furnish to the Manager its opinion and negative assurance statement, dated
as of such date and addressed to the Manager in form and substance acceptable to the Manager.

 
(c) Delivery of Officer’s Certificate. The Company shall have furnished or caused to be furnished to the Manager a certificate of the Company signed by the Chief

Executive Officer or the President and the principal financial or accounting officer of the Company, dated as of such date, to the effect that the signers of such certificate
have carefully examined the Registration Statement, the Prospectus, any Prospectus Supplement and any documents incorporated by reference therein and any
supplements or amendments thereto and this Agreement and that:

 
(i) the representations and warranties of the Company in this Agreement are true and correct on and as of such date with the same effect as if made on

such date and the Company has complied with all the agreements and satisfied all the conditions on its part to be performed or satisfied at or prior to such date;
 

(ii) no stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement or any notice objecting to its use has been issued and no proceedings for
that purpose have been instituted or, to the Company’s knowledge, threatened; and

 
(iii) since the date of the most recent financial statements included in the Registration Statement, the Prospectus and the Incorporated Documents, there

has been no Material Adverse Effect on the condition (financial or otherwise), earnings, business or properties of the Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a
whole, whether or not arising from transactions in the ordinary course of business, except as set forth in or contemplated in the Registration Statement and the
Prospectus.

 
(d) Delivery of Accountants’ "Comfort” Letter. The Company shall have requested and caused the Accountants to have furnished to the Manager letters (which

may refer to letters previously delivered to the Manager), dated as of such date, in form and substance satisfactory to the Manager, confirming that they are independent
accountants within the meaning of the Act and the Exchange Act and the respective applicable rules and regulations adopted by the Commission thereunder and that
they have performed a review of any unaudited interim financial information of the Company included or incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement and the
Prospectus and provide customary "comfort” as to such review in form and substance satisfactory to the Manager.
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(e ) No Material Adverse Event. Since the respective dates as of which information is disclosed in the Registration Statement, the Prospectus and the
Incorporated Documents, except as otherwise stated therein, there shall not have been (i) any change or decrease in previously reported results specified in the letter or
letters referred to in paragraph (d) of this Section 6 or (ii) any change, or any development involving a prospective change, in or affecting the condition (financial or
otherwise), earnings, business or properties of the Company and its subsidiaries taken as a whole, whether or not arising from transactions in the ordinary course of
business, except as set forth in or contemplated in the Registration Statement, the Prospectus and the Incorporated Documents (exclusive of any amendment or
supplement thereto) the effect of which, in any case referred to in clause (i) or (ii) above, is, in the sole judgment of the Manager, so material and adverse as to make it
impractical or inadvisable to proceed with the offering or delivery of the Shares as contemplated by the Registration Statement (exclusive of any amendment thereof), the
Incorporated Documents and the Prospectus (exclusive of any amendment or supplement thereto).

 
(f) Payment of All Fees. The Company shall have paid the required Commission filing fees relating to the Shares within the time period required by Rule 456(b)(1)

(i) of the Act without regard to the proviso therein and otherwise in accordance with Rules 456(b) and 457(r) of the Act and, if applicable, shall have updated the
"Calculation of Registration Fee” table in accordance with Rule 456(b)(1)(ii) either in a post-effective amendment to the Registration Statement or on the cover page of a
prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b).

 
(g) No FINRA Objections. FINRA shall not have raised any objection with respect to the fairness and reasonableness of the terms and arrangements under this

Agreement.
 

(h) Shares Listed on Trading Market. The Shares shall have been listed and admitted and authorized for trading on the Trading Market, and satisfactory evidence
of such actions shall have been provided to the Manager.

 
(i) Other Assurances . Prior to each Settlement Date and Time of Delivery, as applicable, the Company shall have furnished to the Manager such further

information, certificates and documents as the Manager may reasonably request.
 

If any of the conditions specified in this Section 6 shall not have been fulfilled when and as provided in this Agreement, or if any of the opinions and certificates
mentioned above or elsewhere in this Agreement shall not be reasonably satisfactory in form and substance to the Manager and counsel for the Manager, this Agreement and all
obligations of the Manager hereunder may be canceled at, or at any time prior to, any Settlement Date or Time of Delivery, as applicable, by the Manager. Notice of such
cancellation shall be given to the Company in writing or by telephone and confirmed in writing by electronic mail.
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The documents required to be delivered by this Section 6 shall be delivered to the office of Ellenoff Grossman & Schole LLP, counsel for the Manager, at 1345 Avenue of
the Americas, New York, New York 10105, email: ______, on each such date as provided in this Agreement.
 

7. Indemnification and Contribution.
 

(a) Indemnification by Company. The Company agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Manager, the directors, officers, employees and agents of the
Manager and each person who controls the Manager within the meaning of either the Act or the Exchange Act against any and all losses, claims, damages or liabilities,
joint or several, to which they or any of them may become subject under the Act, the Exchange Act or other Federal or state statutory law or regulation, at common law or
otherwise, insofar as such losses, claims, damages or liabilities (or actions in respect thereof) arise out of or are based upon any untrue statement or alleged untrue
statement of a material fact contained in the Registration Statement for the registration of the Shares as originally filed or in any amendment thereof, or in the Base
Prospectus, any Prospectus Supplement, the Prospectus, any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, or in any amendment thereof or supplement thereto, or arise out of or are
based upon the omission or alleged omission to state therein a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading or
result from or relate to any breach of any of the representations, warranties, covenants or agreements made by the Company in this Agreement, and agrees to reimburse
each such indemnified party for any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by them in connection with investigating or defending any such loss, claim, damage,
liability or action; provided, however, that the Company will not be liable in any such case to the extent that any such loss, claim, damage or liability arises out of or is
based upon any such untrue statement or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission made therein in reliance upon and in conformity with written
information furnished to the Company by the Manager specifically for inclusion therein. This indemnity agreement will be in addition to any liability that the Company
may otherwise have.

 
(b) Indemnification by Manager. The Manager agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Company, each of its directors, each of its officers who signs the

Registration Statement, and each person who controls the Company within the meaning of either the Act or the Exchange Act, to the same extent as the foregoing
indemnity from the Company to the Manager, but only with reference to written information relating to the Manager furnished to the Company by the Manager
specifically for inclusion in the documents referred to in the foregoing indemnity; provided, however, that in no case shall the Manager be responsible for any amount in
excess of the Broker Fee applicable to the Shares and paid hereunder. This indemnity agreement will be in addition to any liability which the Manager may otherwise have.
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(c) Indemnification Procedures. Promptly after receipt by an indemnified party under this Section 7 of notice of the commencement of any action, such
indemnified party will, if a claim in respect thereof is to be made against the indemnifying party under this Section 7, notify the indemnifying party in writing of the
commencement thereof; but the failure so to notify the indemnifying party (i) will not relieve it from liability under paragraph (a) or (b) above unless and to the extent it did
not otherwise learn of such action and such failure results in the forfeiture by the indemnifying party of substantial rights and defenses and (ii) will not, in any event,
relieve the indemnifying party from any obligations to any indemnified party other than the indemnification obligation provided in paragraph (a) or (b) above. The
indemnifying party shall be entitled to appoint counsel of the indemnifying party’s choice at the indemnifying party’s expense to represent the indemnified party in any
action for which indemnification is sought (in which case the indemnifying party shall not thereafter be responsible for the fees and expenses of any separate counsel
retained by the indemnified party or parties except as set forth below); provided, however, that such counsel shall be reasonably satisfactory to the indemnified party.
Notwithstanding the indemnifying party’s election to appoint counsel to represent the indemnified party in an action, the indemnified party shall have the right to employ
separate counsel (including local counsel), and the indemnifying party shall bear the reasonable fees, costs and expenses of such separate counsel if (i) the use of counsel
chosen by the indemnifying party to represent the indemnified party would present such counsel with a conflict of interest, (ii) the actual or potential defendants in, or
targets of, any such action include both the indemnified party and the indemnifying party and the indemnified party shall have reasonably concluded that there may be
legal defenses available to it and/or other indemnified parties which are different from or additional to those available to the indemnifying party, (iii) the indemnifying party
shall not have employed counsel reasonably satisfactory to the indemnified party to represent the indemnified party within a reasonable time after notice of the institution
of such action or (iv) the indemnifying party shall authorize the indemnified party to employ separate counsel at the expense of the indemnifying party. An indemnifying
party will not, without the prior written consent of the indemnified parties, settle or compromise or consent to the entry of any judgment with respect to any pending or
threatened claim, action, suit or proceeding in respect of which indemnification or contribution may be sought hereunder (whether or not the indemnified parties are actual
or potential parties to such claim or action) unless such settlement, compromise or consent includes an unconditional release of each indemnified party from all liability
arising out of such claim, action, suit or proceeding.
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(d) Contribution. In the event that the indemnity provided in paragraph (a), (b) or (c) of this Section 7 is unavailable to or insufficient to hold harmless an
indemnified party for any reason, the Company and the Manager agree to contribute to the aggregate losses, claims, damages and liabilities (including legal or other
expenses reasonably incurred in connection with investigating or defending the same) (collectively "Losses”) to which the Company and the Manager may be subject in
such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative benefits received by the Company on the one hand and by the Manager on the other from the offering of the
Shares; provided, however, that in no case shall the Manager be responsible for any amount in excess of the Broker Fee applicable to the Shares and paid hereunder. If
the allocation provided by the immediately preceding sentence is unavailable for any reason, the Company and the Manager severally shall contribute in such proportion
as is appropriate to reflect not only such relative benefits but also the relative fault of the Company on the one hand and of the Manager on the other in connection with
the statements or omissions which resulted in such Losses as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. Benefits received by the Company shall be deemed to
be equal to the total net proceeds from the offering (before deducting expenses) received by it, and benefits received by the Manager shall be deemed to be equal to the
Broker Fee applicable to the Shares and paid hereunder as determined by this Agreement. Relative fault shall be determined by reference to, among other things, whether
any untrue or any alleged untrue statement of a material fact or the omission or alleged omission to state a material fact relates to information provided by the Company on
the one hand or the Manager on the other, the intent of the parties and their relative knowledge, access to information and opportunity to correct or prevent such untrue
statement or omission. The Company and the Manager agree that it would not be just and equitable if contribution were determined by pro rata allocation or any other
method of allocation which does not take account of the equitable considerations referred to above. Notwithstanding the provisions of this paragraph (d), no person
guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the Act) shall be entitled to contribution from any person who was not guilty of such
fraudulent misrepresentation. For purposes of this Section 7, each person who controls the Manager within the meaning of either the Act or the Exchange Act and each
director, officer, employee and agent of the Manager shall have the same rights to contribution as the Manager, and each person who controls the Company within the
meaning of either the Act or the Exchange Act, each officer of the Company who shall have signed the Registration Statement and each director of the Company shall
have the same rights to contribution as the Company, subject in each case to the applicable terms and conditions of this paragraph (d).

 
8. Termination.

 
(a) The Company shall have the right, by giving written notice as hereinafter specified, to terminate the provisions of this Agreement relating to the solicitation of

offers to purchase the Shares in its sole discretion at any time upon five (5) Business Days’ prior written notice. Any such termination shall be without liability of any
party to any other party except that (i) with respect to any pending sale, through the Manager for the Company, the obligations of the Company, including in respect of
compensation of the Manager, shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding the termination and (ii) the provisions of Sections 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 12, 14 and 15 of this
Agreement shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding such termination.
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(b) The Manager shall have the right, by giving written notice as hereinafter specified, to terminate the provisions of this Agreement relating to the solicitation of
offers to purchase the Shares in its sole discretion at any time. Any such termination shall be without liability of any party to any other party except that the provisions of
Sections 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 12, 14 and 15 of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding such termination.

 
(c) This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect until such date that this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Sections 8(a) or (b) above or otherwise by

mutual agreement of the parties, provided that any such termination by mutual agreement shall in all cases be deemed to provide that Sections 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 12, 14 and 15
of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

 
(d) Any termination of this Agreement shall be effective on the date specified in such notice of termination, provided that such termination shall not be effective

until the close of business on the date of receipt of such notice by the Manager or the Company, as the case may be. If such termination shall occur prior to the Settlement
Date or Time of Delivery for any sale of the Shares, such sale of the Shares shall settle in accordance with the provisions of Section 2(b) of this Agreement.

 
(e) In the case of any purchase of Shares by the Manager pursuant to a Terms Agreement, the obligations of the Manager pursuant to such Terms Agreement

shall be subject to termination, in the absolute discretion of the Manager, by prompt oral notice given to the Company prior to the Time of Delivery relating to such
Shares, if any, and confirmed promptly by electronic mail, if since the time of execution of the Terms Agreement and prior to such delivery and payment, (i) trading in the
Common Stock shall have been suspended by the Commission or the Trading Market or trading in securities generally on the Trading Market shall have been suspended
or limited or minimum prices shall have been established on such exchange, (ii) a banking moratorium shall have been declared either by Federal or New York State
authorities or (iii) there shall have occurred any outbreak or escalation of hostilities, declaration by the United States of a national emergency or war, or other calamity or
crisis the effect of which on financial markets is such as to make it, in the sole judgment of the Manager, impractical or inadvisable to proceed with the offering or delivery
of the Shares as contemplated by the Prospectus (exclusive of any amendment or supplement thereto).
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9. Representations and Indemnities to Survive. The respective agreements, representations, warranties, indemnities and other statements of the Company or its officers
and of the Manager set forth in or made pursuant to this Agreement will remain in full force and effect, regardless of any investigation made by the Manager or the Company or
any of the officers, directors, employees, agents or controlling persons referred to in Section 7, and will survive delivery of and payment for the Shares.
 

10. Notices. All communications hereunder will be in writing and effective only on receipt, and will be mailed, delivered, or e-mailed to the addresses of the Company and
the Manager, respectively, set forth on the signature page hereto.
 

11. Successors. This Agreement will inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective successors and the officers, directors, employees,
agents and controlling persons referred to in Section 7, and no other person will have any right or obligation hereunder.
 

12. No Fiduciary Duty. The Company hereby acknowledges that (a) the purchase and sale of the Shares pursuant to this Agreement is an arm’s-length commercial
transaction between the Company, on the one hand, and the Manager and any affiliate through which it may be acting, on the other, (b) the Manager is acting solely as sales agent
and/or principal in connection with the purchase and sale of the Company’s securities and not as a fiduciary of the Company and (c) the Company’s engagement of the Manager in
connection with the offering and the process leading up to the offering is as independent contractors and not in any other capacity. Furthermore, the Company agrees that it is
solely responsible for making its own judgments in connection with the offering (irrespective of whether the Manager has advised or is currently advising the Company on related
or other matters). The Company agrees that it will not claim that the Manager has rendered advisory services of any nature or respect, or owe an agency, fiduciary or similar duty to
the Company, in connection with such transaction or the process leading thereto.
 

13. Integration. This Agreement and any Terms Agreement supersede all prior agreements and understandings (whether written or oral) between the Company and the
Manager with respect to the subject matter hereof.
 

14. Amendments; Waivers. No provision of this Agreement may be waived, modified, supplemented or amended except in a written instrument signed, in the case of an
amendment, by the Company and the Manager. No waiver of any default with respect to any provision, condition or requirement of this Agreement shall be deemed to be a
continuing waiver in the future or a waiver of any subsequent default or a waiver of any other provision, condition or requirement hereof, nor shall any delay or omission of any
party to exercise any right hereunder in any manner impair the exercise of any such right.
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15. Applicable Law. This Agreement and any Terms Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York applicable to
contracts made and to be performed within the State of New York. Each of the Company and the Manager: (i) agrees that any legal suit, action or proceeding arising out of or
relating to this Agreement shall be instituted exclusively in New York Supreme Court, County of New York, or in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New
York, (ii) waives any objection which it may have or hereafter to the venue of any such suit, action or proceeding, and (iii) irrevocably consents to the exclusive jurisdiction of the
New York Supreme Court, County of New York, and the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York in any such suit, action or proceeding. Each of the
Company and the Manager further agrees to accept and acknowledge service of any and all process which may be served in any such suit, action or proceeding in the New York
Supreme Court, County of New York, or in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York and agrees that service of process upon the Company mailed by
certified mail to the Company’s address shall be deemed in every respect effective service of process upon the Company, in any such suit, action or proceeding, and service of
process upon the Manager mailed by certified mail to the Manager’s address shall be deemed in every respect effective service process upon the Manager, in any such suit, action
or proceeding. If either party shall commence an action or proceeding to enforce any provision of this Agreement, then the prevailing party in such action or proceeding shall be
reimbursed by the other party for its reasonable attorney’s fees and other costs and expenses incurred with the investigation, preparation and prosecution of such action or
proceeding.
 

16. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. THE COMPANY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY AND
ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, ANY TERMS AGREEMENT OR THE
TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY.
 

17. Counterparts. This Agreement and any Terms Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each one of which shall be an original, with the same effect as
if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon one and the same agreement. Counterparts may be delivered via electronic mail (including any electronic signature covered by the
U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000, Uniform Electronic Transactions Act, the Electronic Signatures and Records Act or other applicable law, e.g., www.docusign.com) or other
transmission method and any counterpart so delivered shall be deemed to have been duly and validly delivered and be valid and effective for all purposes.
 

***************************
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18. Headings. The section headings used in this Agreement and any Terms Agreement are for convenience only and shall not affect the construction hereof.
 

If the foregoing is in accordance with your understanding of our agreement, please sign and return to us the enclosed duplicate hereof, whereupon this letter and your
acceptance shall represent a binding agreement among the Company and the Manager.
 
Very truly yours,
 
Inuvo, Inc.
 
By:                                                           
Name:
Title:
 
Address for Notice:
 
The foregoing Agreement is hereby confirmed and accepted as of the date first written above.
 
H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC
 
By: /s/ Edward D. Silvera______________________
Name: Edward D. Silvera
Title: Chief Operating Officer
 
Address for Notice:
430 Park Avenue
New York, New York 10022
Attention: Chief Executive Officer
E-mail: ________
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Form of Terms Agreement
ANNEX I

INUVO, INC.
TERMS AGREEMENT

 
Dear Sirs:

 
            Inuvo, Inc. (the "Company”) proposes, subject to the terms and conditions stated herein and in the At The Market Offering Agreement, dated May 7, 2024 (the " At
The Market Offering Agreement”), between the Company and H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC ("Manager”), to issue and sell to Manager the securities specified in the
Schedule I hereto (the "Purchased Shares”).

 
            Each of the provisions of the At The Market Offering Agreement not specifically related to the solicitation by the Manager, as agent of the Company, of offers to
purchase securities is incorporated herein by reference in its entirety, and shall be deemed to be part of this Terms Agreement to the same extent as if such provisions had
been set forth in full herein. Each of the representations and warranties set forth therein shall be deemed to have been made at and as of the date of this Terms Agreement
and the Time of Delivery, except that each representation and warranty in Section 3 of the At The Market Offering Agreement which makes reference to the Prospectus (as
therein defined) shall be deemed to be a representation and warranty as of the date of the At The Market Offering Agreement in relation to the Prospectus, and also a
representation and warranty as of the date of this Terms Agreement and the Time of Delivery in relation to the Prospectus as amended and supplemented to relate to the
Purchased Shares.

 
            An amendment to the Registration Statement (as defined in the At The Market Offering Agreement), or a supplement to the Prospectus, as the case may be, relating
to the Purchased Shares, in the form heretofore delivered to the Manager is now proposed to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

 
            Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the At The Market Offering Agreement which are incorporated herein by reference, the Company agrees
to issue and sell to the Manager and the latter agrees to purchase from the Company the number of shares of the Purchased Shares at the time and place and at the
purchase price set forth in the Schedule I hereto.
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          If the foregoing is in accordance with your understanding, please sign and return to us a counterpart hereof, whereupon this Terms Agreement, including those provisions of
the At The Market Offering Agreement incorporated herein by reference, shall constitute a binding agreement between the Manager and the Company.
 
INUVO, INC.
   
By:
 Name:  
 Title:  
   
ACCEPTED as of the date first written above.  
  
H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC  
   
By:   
 Name:  
 Title:  
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EXHIBITS 5.1 and 23.1
 

Porter Wright
Morris & Arthur LLP
41 South High Street

Suites 2800-3200
Columbus, Ohio 43215-6194

 
Direct: 614-227-2059

Fax: 614-227-2100
Toll free: 800-533-2794

 
 

www.porterwright.com
 

 
CINCINNATI
CLEVELAND
COLUMBUS

DAYTON
NAPLES

WASHINGTON, DC

May 7, 2024
 
Inuvo, Inc.
500 President Clinton Boulevard, Suite 300
Little Rock, AR 72201
 
Ladies and Gentlemen:
 

We have acted as counsel for Inuvo, Inc., a Nevada corporation (the "Company”), in connection with the registration of the
offer and sale of up to $15,000,000 of shares (the "Shares”) of the Company’s common stock, $0.001 par value per share, pursuant to the
Company’s registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 277878), filed on March 13, 2024 and declared effective by the Securities and
Exchange Commission on May 1, 2024 (the "Registration Statement”).
 

The offering and sale of the Shares are being made pursuant to an At The Market Offering Agreement (the "Offering
Agreement”) dated as of the date hereof by and between the Company and H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC.
 

We have examined copies of the Offering Agreement, the Registration Statement, the base prospectus that forms a part thereof
and the prospectus supplement thereto related to the offering of the Shares, which prospectus supplement is dated as of the date hereof
and has been or will be filed by the Company in accordance with Rule 424(b) promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933 (the "Act”).
We have also examined instruments, documents and records that we deemed relevant and necessary for the basis of our opinion
hereinafter expressed.
 

In such examination, we have assumed (i) the authenticity of original documents and the genuineness of all signatures, (ii) the
conformity to the originals of all documents submitted to us as copies, and (iii) the truth, accuracy, and completeness of the information,
representations and warranties contained in the records, documents, instruments and certificates we have reviewed.
 

Based on and subject to the foregoing, we are of the opinion that the Shares have been duly authorized by the Company and,
when issued and delivered by the Company against payment therefor in accordance with the terms of the Offering Agreement, will be
validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.
 

The opinions expressed herein are limited solely to: (i) the federal laws of the United States of America; and (ii) Chapter 78 of the
Nevada Revised Statutes on Private Corporations (including the statutory provisions and all applicable provisions of the Nevada
Constitution and the reported judicial cases interpreting those laws), in each case as currently in effect, and we express no opinion as to
the effect of the laws of any other jurisdiction on the opinions expressed herein. Our opinions are limited to those expressly set forth
herein, and we express no opinions by implication.

 
 



 
 
May 7, 2024
Page 2
 

This opinion is given as of the date hereof, and we assume no obligation to advise you after the date hereof of facts or circumstances that come to our attention or
changes in law that occur that could affect the opinions contained herein.
 

We hereby consent to your filing of this opinion as exhibits the Company Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on or about the date hereof for incorporation into the
Registration Statement. In giving such consent, we do not thereby admit that we are included in the category of persons whose consent is required under Section 7 of the
Securities Act or the General Rules and Regulations of the SEC promulgated thereunder.
 
Very truly yours,
 
/s/ Porter Wright Morris & Arthur LLP
 
PORTER WRIGHT MORRIS & ARTHUR LLP
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Ladies and Gentlemen:
 

We have acted as counsel for Inuvo, Inc., a Nevada corporation (the "Company”), in connection with the registration of the
offer and sale of up to $15,000,000 of shares (the "Shares”) of the Company’s common stock, $0.001 par value per share, pursuant to the
Company’s registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 277878), filed on March 13, 2024 and declared effective by the Securities and
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The offering and sale of the Shares are being made pursuant to an At The Market Offering Agreement (the "Offering
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and has been or will be filed by the Company in accordance with Rule 424(b) promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933 (the "Act”).
We have also examined instruments, documents and records that we deemed relevant and necessary for the basis of our opinion
hereinafter expressed.

 
In such examination, we have assumed (i) the authenticity of original documents and the genuineness of all signatures, (ii) the

conformity to the originals of all documents submitted to us as copies, and (iii) the truth, accuracy, and completeness of the information,
representations and warranties contained in the records, documents, instruments and certificates we have reviewed.

 
Based on and subject to the foregoing, we are of the opinion that the Shares have been duly authorized by the Company and,

when issued and delivered by the Company against payment therefor in accordance with the terms of the Offering Agreement, will be
validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.

 
The opinions expressed herein are limited solely to: (i) the federal laws of the United States of America; and (ii) Chapter 78 of the

Nevada Revised Statutes on Private Corporations (including the statutory provisions and all applicable provisions of the Nevada
Constitution and the reported judicial cases interpreting those laws), in each case as currently in effect, and we express no opinion as to
the effect of the laws of any other jurisdiction on the opinions expressed herein. Our opinions are limited to those expressly set forth
herein, and we express no opinions by implication.
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This opinion is given as of the date hereof, and we assume no obligation to advise you after the date hereof of facts or circumstances that come to our attention or
changes in law that occur that could affect the opinions contained herein.
 

We hereby consent to your filing of this opinion as exhibits the Company Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on or about the date hereof for incorporation into the
Registration Statement. In giving such consent, we do not thereby admit that we are included in the category of persons whose consent is required under Section 7 of the
Securities Act or the General Rules and Regulations of the SEC promulgated thereunder.
 
Very truly yours,
 
/s/ Porter Wright Morris & Arthur LLP
 
PORTER WRIGHT MORRIS & ARTHUR LLP
 
 

 



 
EXHIBIT 31.1

 
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification
 
I, Richard K. Howe, certify that:
 
I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Inuvo, Inc.;
 
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;
 
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;
 
Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and
 
The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the
audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.
 
Date: May 7, 2024
 
/s/ Richard K. Howe    
   
Richard K. Howe   
   
Chief Executive Officer, principal executive officer   
 



 
EXHIBIT 31.2

 
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification
 
I, Wallace D. Ruiz, certify that:
 
I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Inuvo, Inc.;
 
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 
 
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;
 
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;
 
Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and
 
The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the
audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.
 
Date: May 7, 2024
 
/s/ Wallace D. Ruiz    
   
Wallace D. Ruiz   
   
Chief Financial Officer, principal financial and accounting
officer   

 



 
EXHIBIT 32.1

 
Section 1350 Certification
 
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Inuvo, Inc. (the "Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2024, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(the "Report”), I, Richard K. Howe, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. SS. 1350, as adopted pursuant to SS. 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that:
 
The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and
 
The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial conditions and results of operations of the Company.
 
Date: May 7, 2024
 
/s/ Richard K. Howe   
   
Richard K. Howe   
   
Chief Executive Officer, principal executive officer   
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed
form within the electronic version of this written statement has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange
Commission or its staff upon request.
 
 



 
EXHIBIT 32.2

 
Section 1350 Certification
 
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Inuvo, Inc. (the "Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2024, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(the "Report”), I, Wallace D. Ruiz, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. SS. 1350, as adopted pursuant to SS. 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that:
 
The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and
 
The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial conditions and results of operations of the Company.
 
Date: May 7, 2024
 
/s/ Wallace D. Ruiz   
   
Wallace D. Ruiz   
   
Chief Financial Officer, principal financial and accounting
officer   

 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed
form within the electronic version of this written statement has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange
Commission or its staff upon request.
 
 


